
Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  The 
Council will webcast the meeting.

Please ask for:
Marie Lowe

31 October 2018

Dear Councillor

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE to be held on Thursday 8 November 
2018 at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden 
City, Herts, AL8 6AE

Yours faithfully

Corporate Director
Public Protection, Planning and Governance

A G E N D A
PART 1

1.  SUBSTITUTIONS 

To note any substitution of Members made in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules 19-22.

2.  APOLOGIES 

3.  MINUTES 

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 October 2018 
(previously circulated).

4.  NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 10 
AND ANY ITEMS WITHDRAWN FROM THE AGENDA 

Public Document Pack



5.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS 

To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on the Agenda.

6.  22 PARKWAY WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL8 6HG - 6/2018/1881/FULL - 
CHANGE OF USE FROM OFFICES (B1) TO HOTEL (C1) AND ERECTION OF 
SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION (Pages 5 - 38)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

7.  APPEAL DECISIONS (Pages 39 - 42)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

8.  PLANNING UPDATE - FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS (Pages 43 - 60)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

9.  DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE REPORT - JULY - 
SEPTEMBER 2018 (Pages 61 - 72)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance).

10.  SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION 

11.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

The Committee is asked to resolve:

That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for Item 12 on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined in 
Section 100(A)(3) and Paragraphs 2 (Information likely to reveal the identity of an 
individual), and 6 (Statutory notice or order)  of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said 
Act (as amended).

In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.



PART II

12.  ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF AN EXEMPT NATURE AT THE DISCRETION OF 
THE CHAIRMAN 

Circulation: Councillors N.Pace (Chairman)
J.Boulton (Vice-Chairman)
S.Boulton
H.Bromley
J.Caliskan
A.Chesterman
S.Elam

P.Hebden
M.Larkins
T.Lyons
S.Markiewicz
P.Shah
S.Wrenn

Corporate Management Team
Press and Public (except Part II Items)

If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Marie Lowe, 
Governance Service on 01707 357443 or email – democracy@welhat.gov.uk 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



             Part I
                                                                      Executive Member: Councillor S Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 8 NOVEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

6/2018/1881/FULL 

CHANGE OF USE FROM OFFICES (B1) TO HOTEL (C1) AND ERECTION OF 
SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION AT 22 PARKWAY WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL8 
6HG

APPLICANT: JD Wetherspoon PLC

(Handside)

1 Site Description

1.1 The application site comprises a vacant building and associated car park and 
gardens last used for office purposes.  This imposing building is located in a 
prominent position facing onto Parkway and was originally built as a house with 
a large garden.  It has twice been extended in the past with a part single and 
part two storey extension on the rear elevation. The original rear garden is now 
largely covered in hardstanding and set out as a car park with 16 spaces with 
assorted tree and shrub planting around the boundaries of the site. The short 
front garden remains and is mainly grass with timber posts linked with chains 
marking the boundary with the footpath. A vehicular access leading along the 
side of the property to the parking at the rear is located adjacent to the right 
hand (northern) boundary.

1.2 The site has been vacant for some time and is presently enclosed with security 
fencing with windows secured against break-in.

1.3 Adjacent to the northern boundary and linked to the application premise by a 
single storey structure is a similarly imposing house, now used as a doctor’s 
surgery. Further north are a further 4 large houses, each different but clearly 
designed as a group and set on spacious plots with large rear gardens. All are 
now in commercial use and have parking in the back gardens and most have 
had sizeable rear extensions which considerably alter their appearance at the 
rear, although from the front as viewed across Parkway the integrity of the 
original group remains largely intact.

1.4 To the south of the site is a formal area of open space comprising the Reiss 
Memorial Garden. This occupies the corner with Russellcroft Road. The rear 
(west) boundary of the site adjoins the gardens of Asquith House, a complex of 
flats for older people located on Guessens Road, and opposite is the open 
gardens and boulevard of Parkway.

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



2 The Proposal

2.1 The Application proposes the change of use and extension of the existing 
building from an office use (B1) to a hotel (C1 use).  

2.2 The extension is entirely at ground floor level with the ground floor area 
proposed to increase from 251 sq.m. to 470 sq.m.  The extension would be to 
the rear of the building on what was is currently car park.  

2.3 The original plot measures approximately 45m deep with the original house 
sited in the front quarter of the plot.  Subsequent extensions at ground and first 
floor have reduced the original garden depth such that at present the building 
extends to within approximately 25m of the rear boundary and the first floor 
extension extends to within 27m of the rear boundary.  The application proposal 
would see the ground floor extended to within 11.5m of the rear boundary, over 
two thirds of the original plot depth and across almost the entire width of the 
building.

2.4 Within the rear extension there would be 7 guest bedrooms and service facilities 
such as a plant room, cellar and bottle store and kitchen and lavatories serving 
the hotel bar, lounge and dining areas which are to be located towards the front 
in the existing building.  At ground floor level therefore the hotel will have 7 
bedrooms, a lounge, bar/dining area and associated service uses associated 
with running the hotel and the bar and dining area.  

2.5 At first floor the hotel will have an additional 5 guest bedrooms and at second 
floor a further guest bedroom, a staff room, plant room and linen store.  

2.6 In total there will be 13 guest rooms.

2.7 The existing car parking at the rear of the building will be covered.  There will 
be no parking spaces provided on site and the only area suitable for 
parking/delivery is a gravelled surface in the north east corner of the site to the 
right of the building and adjacent to the existing Doctor’s surgery, forward of a 
set of double gates leading to a yard area providing side access to the cellar, 
kitchen, plant room and bin store.

2.8 The remaining garden area at the rear of the plot and adjacent to the ground 
floor bedrooms will not be accessible to all patrons.  The only outdoor space for 
use by patrons is a smoking area on the south side of the building enclosed 
with acoustic fencing.  There is also a short front garden area however the  
Design and Access Statement accompanying the application states the “hotel 
customers will not be allowed to access this front area of lawn”.

3 Reason for Committee Consideration

3.1 This application is presented to the Development Management Committee 
because Councillor Cowan called-in the application “due to the massive public 
reaction to it, and secondly as it would conflict with expected use as in various 
iterations of local plans”.

4 Relevant Planning History

Page 6



4.1 N6/2016/0868/FP - Change of use from offices (B1) to public house (A4) and 
rear one and two storey extensions. This planning application was refused for 
the following reasons: -

1. The proposed extension represents a very significant increase in the 
footprint and bulk of the building which when combined with the intended use 
of both front and rear open areas of the site (beer garden and terrace) is 
considered to represent a very significant overdevelopment of the plot such 
that it fails to reflect the form, scale and design of the existing building and the 
spaces around it and would introduce a character and intensity of use that fails 
to reflect its surroundings contrary to the aims of Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005 Policies D1 and D2 and contrary to the aims of the National Planning 
Policy Framework Paragraphs 56 – 58 which requires good design in all 
developments.

2. The proposed extension and alterations would result in a building that 
fails to reflect and respond to the deliberately planned spatial pattern of 
buildings, gardens and open space and separation between buildings on 
Parkway and Guessens Road.  These features are important to the form, 
character and appearance of development along this and other sections of 
Parkway.  The development would therefore cause substantial harm to the 
character and appearance of this very important part of the Welwyn Garden 
City Conservation Area and unregistered historic park and garden (Parkway 
and The Campus) which is not outweighed by any substantial public benefits 
and is therefore considered to conflict with Policies R28, D1, D2 and TCR11(i) 
of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and contrary to paragraph 133 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

3. The proposed rear extension and alterations required to form a front 
terrace would result in the loss of landscape/tree planting and loss of 
grassed/planted front garden area which each contribute to the setting of the 
existing building and to the wider conservation area and adjoining urban open 
land, all designed as a key part of the Garden City by Louis de Soisson.  The 
proposal would therefore conflict with Policies D4, D8, R28 and R11 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 which seek to ensure new development 
enhances the public realm and includes landscaping which enhances bio-
diversity in the area and reflects the strong tradition of urban landscape design 
in the borough.

4. The proposed extension and alterations comprising works to the front 
elevation and roof additions/alterations, individually and in combination fail to 
adequately respect the buildings’ existing design and appearance.  (i) The rear 
extension will be disproportionately large and bulky in appearance when 
viewed from the south, west and north directions and will significantly alter and 
further obscure the proportions of the original building; (ii) the proposed 
alterations to the front elevation and introduction of a terrace will unbalance 
the symmetrical neo-georgian proportions of the original building; (iii) the 
introduction of commercial fume extract cowls projecting above the roof of the 
building will add clutter of commercial character and appearance to the roof of 
the existing building, all to the detriment of the existing character and 

Page 7



appearance of the building  and contrary to the aims of Policies D1 and D2 of 
the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and contrary to the aims of the National 
Planning Policy Framework Paragraphs 56 – 58 which requires good design 
in all developments.

5. Use of the extended building and gardens/terrace as a public house as 
proposed would despite the presence of a proposed acoustic fence and 
management initiatives regarding hours of usage, be likely to have a seriously 
adverse effect upon the amenity of nearby neighbours who are used to a quiet 
aural environment.  Harm to amenity/living conditions would arise from (i) 
noise emanating from the public house and gardens during the day and 
evening caused by customers and general servicing activity associated with 
use of the public house; (ii) additional activity and noise associated with 
comings and goings of customers late into the night.  The proposal would 
therefore conflict with the objectives of Policy TCR11 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005 which seeks to ensure new development has no adverse 
effect on the amenity of occupiers of nearby residential areas and Policy R19 
which seeks to refuse development likely to result in unacceptable levels of 
noise, and is contrary to advice contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraph 123.

4.2 N6/2015/0895/FP - Change of use from offices (B1) to public house (A4) and 
rear one and two storey extensions - Refused

4.3 N6/2011/2220/FP - Rearrangement and extension to existing car parking 
granted

4.4 N6/2001/0662/FP – Change of use of ground floor to a learning workshop to 
provide education training and associated services granted

4.5 N6/2007/0037/FP – application to erect a 2.5 storey and single storey extension 
for mixed B1(a)/D1 use at 18 Parkway – Refused and appeal dismissed.

4.6 N6/1991/0893/FP – Single and three storey extensions and associated parking 
granted

4.7 N6/1998/0835/FP – Erection of single storey and three storey extension to 
office building, together with provision of 14 No. parking spaces granted

4.8 N6/1998/0247/FP - Erection of single storey and three storey extensions and 
associated car parking granted.

5 Relevant Planning Policy

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF) 

5.2 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 (Local Plan)

5.3 Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission 2016 (Emerging Local Plan 2016)

5.4 Supplementary Design Guidance 2005 (SDG)

Page 8



4.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance, Parking Standards 2004 (SPG)

4.6 Interim Policy for Car Parking Standards and Garage Sizes 2014 (Interim Car 
Parking Policy)

6 Site Designation 

6.1 The site is located within the Welwyn Garden City Town Centre and the Welwyn 
Garden City Conservation Area as identified in the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005. The site also abuts land identified as Urban Open Land (Parkway and 
Reiss Memorial Gardens) on two sides, as well as being adjacent to an 
unregistered Park and Garden.

7 Representations Received 

7.1 The application was advertised by means of neighbour notification letters and 
a site notice and by advertisement in the local newspaper.

7.2 At the time of writing 360 representations have been received, 248 of the writers 
object to the proposal and 112 support the proposal.

7.3 Summary of objections

 The hotel scheme will have very similar impacts as the previously 
refused public house.

 The hotel use would conflict with established Welwyn Hatfield District 
Plan policies TCR10 and TCR11 and with the intentions of the Draft 
Local Plan Proposed Submission policies relating to the west side of 
Parkway.

 The lack of any on-site car parking for staff or visitors/patrons fails to 
meet the council’s standards for parking and will result in increased 
demand for on street parking in nearby streets.

 Delivery lorries for the hotel and bar which will have to park and 
(un)load on the street will cause congestion and delay for other road 
users.

 Regular deliveries to the premises and the collection of waste from the 
site will create significant levels of noise and disturbance for nearby 
residents and businesses.

 The proposed hours of opening will result in considerable activity from 
early morning until very late at night/early morning each day with 
associated disturbance for residents of a wide area.

 Cooking fumes and smoke from patrons outside of the premises will 
create smells and odour affecting nearby residents and businesses.

Page 9



 Use by patrons of outdoor smoking areas on the site and on public 
areas outside of the site will result in smoke and noise disturbance in 
the area.

 Use of the site by significant numbers of visitors, patrons, staff and 
others will create significant levels of noise in an area which is currently 
relatively tranquil. 

 The sale of alcohol for prolonged periods of the day and night will spark 
noise and antisocial behaviour potentially leading to criminal activity 
and fear of such behaviour amongst local residents and businesses 
and visitors.

 The large extension proposed on a building that has already been 
extended twice is overly bulky in appearance is overdevelopment and 
is not proportionate to the building and will harm the appearance of the 
original building and its setting in a very prominent position in the 
conservation area.

 The extension and other alterations to the building including the 
demolition of the existing single storey covered side access will be 
harmful to the character and appearance and planned design of the 
Parkway vista and of the wider Welwyn Garden City conservation area, 
contrary to the council’s policies and contrary to advice contained in the 
National Planning Policy Framework and the Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas Act.

 If permitted the use will be followed by applications for advertisements 
and external lighting that are likely to add to the adverse impact on the 
character and appearance of the conservation area.

 The installation of a tall kitchen extract chimney will harm views in a 
number of directions.

 The works will result in harm to trees surrounding the site and adjoining 
the memorial gardens.

 It is an inappropriate use that will affect people’s enjoyment of and the 
setting of the adjoining memorial gardens and wider Parkway setting.

 Increased litter, antisocial behaviour and potential criminal activity will 
demand increased resources from the police service.

7.4 Summary of support

 The town needs improved facilities for visitors and for local people to 
match the growth of new housing in the area.

 The town centre has inadequate facilities and has little to do in the 
evenings to attract people in the evenings.

Page 10



 It will provide jobs for the town.

 The town needs regeneration and the hotel and applicant should be 
welcomed.

 It will be an asset to the town and improve the look of the building and 
Parkway which is already in business use.

 There is plenty of public parking to support the hotel which is no 
different for other restaurants and bars on Howardsgate.

8 Consultations Received

8.1 Conservation Officer/Advisor – Objects

Number 22 Parkway is located in the Welwyn Garden City Conservation Area, a 
designated heritage asset. The building itself is not listed but considered to make a 
positive contribution to the conservation and is noted a ‘key building’ in the 
conservation area appraisal. As such Number 22 is considered a non-designated 
heritage asset with regard to the NPPF.

Number 22 was one of the earliest buildings constructed, in the classical style, in the 
masterplan by Lois de Soisson. The building, which is residential in character, is 
located on the west side of Parkway. Parkway, both the road and landscaping, acts as 
a junction between the commercial and residential areas of the planned settlement. 
Most of the buildings on the west side of Parkway retain their residential use, although 
some buildings to the north have changed use to offices and a surgery.  To the south 
of 22 Parkway is an identified area of important open space, this contains benches and 
a memorial garden affording good views of Parkway and down Howards Gate.

I have not inspected the interior of Number 22.

I recommend refusal of this application. My main concerns with the application are 
specific. I consider the proposed rear extension, whilst in an area which has been 
subject to previous change, is inappropriate in terms of its scale. The footprint of the 
proposed extension is not subservient to the host building and whilst the use would be 
no longer residential, its architectural character (from which significance is drawn) 
would be. As such this will cause harm to both the conservation area and the non-
designated heritage asset. The importance of the rear garden plots of these buildings, 
and the impact caused through developing them, has previously been considered as 
part of an appeal in neighbouring Number 18 Parkway (APP/C1050/A/07/2053874). 
This appeal also identified harm, caused by this form of development, and was 
dismissed.  

The proposed change of use will present a further encroachment of commercial use 
into one of the original residential areas of the planned settlement. This form of the 
development will detract from the understanding of spatial planning of the Garden City, 
making the buildings north of Russellcroft Road commercial in use in contrast to their 
historic planned use. This will cause harm to the character of the conservation area.

Page 11



The gardens to the south of Number 22 are one of the best places in Parkway to 
appreciate the layout of the Garden City. This is currently experienced in some 
tranquillity which may be intrusively impacted by the proposal with regard to the noise 
and lighting which may result.

I consider this proposal will cause less than substantial harm to the conservation area 
and harm to Number 22, a non-designated heritage asset.

I recommend refusal with particular regard to paragraphs 196 and 197 of the NPPF.  

Should the application be approved I recommend conditions are attached pertaining 
to materials of the new extension and requirement for samples. 

Should this application be approved, I have concerns about future applications (as a 
result of new use) for signage and furniture which may be intrusive to the character 
and appearance of the conservation area. 

8.2 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Landscape Team - do not object. 

Currently the majority of the vegetation is situation along either side of the 
boundary of the site. These trees and hedges form a valuable screen 
particularly on the southern boundary of the site which is adjacent to the Dick 
and Celia Reiss Garden.

Within the tree report supplied the trees have been categorised in accordance 
with BS:5837:2012 and this is considered a fair assessment of the condition 
and quality of the trees. 

The plans and report show the removal of 7 trees and 1 part of one hedge. The 
removal are either due to the poor condition of the trees and /or to facilitate the 
development. The trees shown for removal are not worthy of a Tree 
Preservation Order. However the loss of the two ash trees along the southern 
boundary (T8 and T9) will expose a Council owned ash tree (T10) and this may 
require work to balance its crown. 

A tree constraint plan has been provided however this does not indicate the 
extent of a Root Protection Areas (although marked in the key of the legend 
there is no line on the actually plan). There will be some incursion into the RPA 
of some of the trees particularly T10

8.3 WHDC Parking services – comments awaited

8.4 Hertfordshire Gardens Trust – Object – 22 Parkway is in one of the most 
important positions in the design of the landscape of WGC with original 
designed views along Parkway, Howardsgate and diagonally. The Parker and 
Unwin inspired 'gateway' to Russellcroft is a key Arts and Crafts motif. The 
significance of this exemplar Garden City design would be substantially harmed 
both by the building extension and the signage etc which are concomitant with 
hotel usage.

Page 12



We note that there is no allocated parking or delivery facilities which will lead to 
congestion and loss of setting of the Conservation Area.

This is inappropriate development in a Conservation Area and its built & 
landscape heritage contrary to NPPF(chapter 16).

This is contrary to policies in the current and emerging Local Plans which 
requires development to be of high quality and sympathetic to the Conservation 
Area. These proposals demonstrate neither.
The acceptable Change of Use defined in WHBC Policies TCR10 & 11 do not 
include C1 (hotels) in this location

8.5 Welwyn Garden City Society – object 

1. 22 Parkway is listed as one of the most important buildings in Welwyn 
Garden City. The row of buildings 8-22 Parkway forms one of the most 
important vistas in the town. The proposal will spoil this vitally important vista.

2. The proposed design adds a bulky extension to a building that has been 
previously extended on two occasions. The design does not respect the 
character and setting in the Conservation Area.

3. This property falls within the Estate Management Scheme area, as can be 
evidenced on the 'Pink Map' that defines which areas of the town are covered 
by the EMS. Wetherspoons have made no application for EMS consent so far, 
but as far as we are concerned the EMS still applies to the property. The 
planning history of this site shows that it has been applied for in the past, so 
should be applicable now. We are not aware of any evidence as to why this 
should not be the case.

4. Policy TCR11 of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan, the policy currently 
adopted, lists acceptable use classes when a change of use is applied for in 
this area. The policy specifically does not include usage class C1 (Hotels) as 
an acceptable change of use. The following is a relevant extract:

“The Council will allow proposals for the conversion and change of use of 
buildings for office, community, cultural and residential uses (Use Classes 
B1(a), C3 and D1), provided that the proposal would:
(i) Preserve or enhance the character of the Conservation Area; and
(ii) Not harm the amenities of the occupiers of nearby residential areas.
Proposals for the redevelopment of existing buildings in these areas will not be 
permitted unless it can be demonstrated that the new building would enhance 
the character of the Conservation Area.”

In our view this proposal breaches policy TCR11 not only with regard to the 
change of use but also in regard to points (i) and (ii) above. The character of 
the Conservation
Area will be damaged, and nearby amenities and residents will be harmed. Very 
many of our members share this view.

Page 13



5. The proposed Local Plan is currently being examined by the Planning 
Inspector. In that document TCR11 is replaced by policy SADM 20. This policy 
places similar restrictions to that within TCR11 but is also includes the following:

“On the western side of Parkway and the south side of Church Road, as shown 
on the Policies Map, the Council will allow proposals for changes of use or 
development for office, community, cultural and residential uses (falling within 
Use Classes B1(a), C3 and D1) provided that they meet development criteria i 
to v below. Development criteria:
i. Maintain and where appropriate enhance the vitality and viability of the town 
centre;
ii. Preserve and enhance the character and setting of the Conservation Area;
iii. Not harm the amenities of the occupiers of nearby residential areas;
iv. Be properly integrated into the retail core of the town centre, including the 
provision of good pedestrian linkages; and
v. Provide adequate highway access and servicing arrangements and would 
not be detrimental to the highway network including highway safety.”

22 Parkway is of course the western side of Parkway. Class C1 (hotel) is not 
cited and the five sub point conditions would not be met in any case. These 
new policy conditions are more stringent than the current TCR11 policy in this 
respect. All of this serves to underline our key point that this is the wrong 
location for a hotel/pub, both in practical terms, and in WHBC policy terms, both 
current and soon to be adopted.

6. Over the last 40 years, successive planning policies have protected this row 
of buildings from conversion to retail and leisure – sometimes described as “no 
retail on the west side of Parkway”. This policy is long standing and has been 
reaffirmed in the most recent local plan as noted above.

7. There are no parking spaces provided at the site. This is contrary to the 
parking standards. The applicant states that most people will walk to the pub 
after using public transport, and state that “It is considered that adequate 
parking provision exists within the vicinity to cater for any demand that may 
arise.” A hotel is obviously going to require car parking provision somewhere. 
Available parking is already at a premium in the adjacent residential area. The 
additional demand this development would create will only serve to add to 
parking congestion the vicinity.

8. If this application is approved, it will set a precedent for all buildings on the 
west side of Parkway to convert to retail or entertainment. This side of Parkway 
was designed as a boundary between the retail core of the town centre and the 
residential area to the west. To allow the retail core to begin to creep across 
Parkway would dilute the essence of our famously well planned town centre.

9. Noise from visitors arriving and departing late at night will cause a nuisance 
to residents. These buildings play a role in providing a buffer from noise and 
disturbance from the town centre itself. The proposed trading hours are 07:00 
to 00:30 Sunday to Wednesday and 07:00 to 01:30 Thursday to Saturday.

Page 14



10. If consent is given for this scheme, the applicant may be able to vary the 
floor plan AND usage category without further approval. In effect, this would 
allow Wetherspoon to convert the hotel to a pub, their initial intention in the 
previous two planning applications which were both unanimously rejected by 
the council. Approving for C1 use now could be the top of a very slippery slope 
that would have increasingly negative effects on the locale.

11. Deliveries and waste collection will block the main road, and the pavement. 
The applicant suggests they are made before 8am, but this means deliveries 
from 6:00am onwards disturbing local residents. With no dedicated access or 
service road congestion and noise pollution is likely to increase. Emergency 
vehicles could also be obstructed. Damages to the verges due to inconsiderate 
delivery lorries and service vehicles is already a feature of the area, adding the 
support vehicles for a hotel/pub operation into the mix will only serve to make 
matters worse.

12. The site is adjacent to a local surgery which is visited daily by vulnerable 
people, including young children and older people. Having a pub next door with 
very ‘early doors’ leads to the possibility of anti-social behaviour outside the 
premises and in front of patients visiting the surgery.

13. The applicant claims that 50 full-time jobs will be created by the scheme. 
This would equate to 4 jobs per hotel room. The Homes and Community 
Agency’s Employment Density Guide (2015) suggests that budget hotels have 
one full time job per five hotel rooms. The applicant’s claim of 50 full time staff 
is highly questionable. The new 79 room Travelodge in town employs just 25 
people and also includes a bar and café. Wetherspoons hotel room rates are 
typically around £50- £70 per night, with only 13 rooms it doesn’t appear to be 
economically viable to employ 50 full time staff. This fact also underlies the point 
that rather than it primarily being a hotel with a bar and food, it is the reverse.  
It appears to us that due to economic necessity it is a bar and restaurant that 
also happens to have a few budget hotel rooms.

In conclusion
The WGC Society re-iterates once more that it does not object to Wetherspoon 
or any similar business seeking to trade in the town. Each application is to be 
considered on its own merits. In this case, as previously, we do not believe a 
pub, or hotel/pub as proposed, is appropriate in this heritage and conservation 
location. Allowing it to go ahead would dilute the unique character of the town 
centre and break the zoning convention that has served it well for the last 98 
years.

The Estate Management Scheme is an additional tool that governs 
development in this part of the town. To quote the WHBC website “Welwyn 
Garden City is one of only two garden cities in the country. Due to the quality 
of the environment, the High Court in 1973 imposed an Estate Management 
Scheme (EMS) covering most of the town.” We are therefore at a loss to 
understand why Wetherspoons are not being directed to also make an EMS 

Page 15



application, as previous owners of this property have been required to do 
previously.

8.6 Hertfordshire County Council Transport, Programs and Strategy – 

Does not wish to restrict the grant of permission subject to conditions being 
imposed.

HCC, as Highway Authority, has previously been consulted in respect of this 
site specifically for change of use to public house, our comments to district 
reference 6/2016/0868/FULL dated 6/6/2016 refer. It is understood this 
application was refused. 18/8/16.

Development proposals now provide a hotel in place of the existing offices.  The 
application is submitted supported by a Transport Statement prepared by 
Northern Transport Planning, dated July 2018.

The development is described as providing a hotel with accommodation of 13 
guest rooms, with bar/restaurant, described as ancillary to the hotel. The bar / 
restaurant shall be 148m2. HCC recognise that the previous application was to 
provide a public house of 887m2, and therefore proposals represent (in terms 
of bar / restaurant area) an 83% reduction. The Highway Authority recognise 
that there remains the opportunity for non-hotel guests to use facilities.

Parkway, Welwyn Garden City is an unclassified road, providing a local 
distributor function within the Hertfordshire road hierarchy and as such is 
providing a link between the secondary distributors and residential roads and 
therefore carrying a lot of traffic within urban locations.  Parkway, provides a 
one way arrangement, with southbound traffic being directed along the eastern 
route, and northbound via the westerly side. The site is immediately located 
adjacent to the circulatory arms of Parkway, enabling east / west movement 
across the central boulevard area.

The centre of Parkway provides public open space, and represents a Garden 
Village ‘boulevard’. Parking is permitted, on-street, with marked bays in 
Parkway, with double yellow controls protecting junctions and restricting 
parking. Guessens Road (a local access road, providing frontage access to 
predominantly residential properties) is subject to localised, single yellow 
restrictions restricting parking Monday to Saturday, 8am – 6pm.

Welwyn Garden City town centre provides opportunities for parking both on-
street and by multi-storey / surface car parking provision. I would observe that 
the proposal represents the loss of the parking on-site previously provided for 
the office use, representing a loss of 14 spaces.

Trip generation

The Transport Statement utilises TRICS in establishing trip generation for 
development.  The Highway Authority would present an observation that the 
sites selected are not representative of the nature of the development. The 

Page 16



majority of sites considered within the TRICS assessment are for significantly 
larger hotels.  The TS suggests that sites are in a similar location, with similar 
ancillary facilities.

There appears to have been little effort invested in presenting an appropriate 
TRICS assessment. Sites include London based hotels including Greenwich / 
Hackney which reasonably enjoy greater access to non-car modes of travel. 
Similarly it includes sites ranging from 4 bedrooms to 224 bedrooms. The 
majority of sites are associated with well-established larger chains (Holiday Inn 
/ Travel Lodge / Premier Inn etc) each of which, whilst providing dining areas 
(normally breakfast only) and bar areas, are not predominantly perceived as a 
dining / drinking establishment that may be frequented by the wider community.

The application site is more traditional in appearance. The degree to which 
facilities shall be perceived as for guests only is a matter of judgement. Whilst 
seating plans may be indicative, it is clear that table provision alone provides 
for 20 individual tables, greater than necessary for the 13 guest rooms. 
Similarly, the area given over to bar area is significantly above that which many 
of the hotels used within the TRICS assessment provides. It is recognised there 
is a perception that the application represents a resubmission of a public house 
scheme, within the guise of a hotel. The layout does little to dissuade such a 
view. Application form considers hours of opening as not applicable in 
determination of the application. Again, if the facilities are for guests only, then 
it is recognised many hotels will serve until all guests have retired. If facilities 
are more widely available, hours of use would be more applicable.

On the basis of the use as a 13 room hotel, the TS predicts that the use would 
generate circa 3 peak hour 2 way vehicle trips, or 1 INbound and 2 OUTbound. 

For the above reasons, unless the LPA consider there are mechanisms by 
which the use of the site may be restricted to guests / residents only, the 
Highway Authority consider that limited weight shall be given to the trip 
assessment.

However, the Highway Authority has, under the previous planning history for 
the site, accepted trip rates for public house use. Consideration of such rates 
is reasonable given the above.

On a pro-rata assessment, against previously agreed vehicle trip rates, the 
proposed bar / dining area may give rise to 3 two way vehicle trips in the 
lunchtime peak (13:00 – 14:00) and 4 in the evening peak (17:00 – 18:00). 
Vehicle trips in the morning would not commonly occur for a public house. The 
HA are satisfied that the proposals, measured against the trip rate 
characteristics of either Hotel or Public House, would not be considered severe.

Trips generated by either use, in the AM and PM peak, would be beneath that 
commonly expected for a building of the applicant site scale (471m2) within B1 
office use. 

Page 17



The Highway Authority does not consider that the TS has presented a 
reasonable assessment of trips, however, in measured recognition of 
previously agreed trip rates for this site accept that the level of trips generated 
by the site shall not be unacceptable nor have a severe impact on the highway 
network. Peak hours for the proposed use are outside of accepted daily peaks 
on the highway network. It is recognised that the hotel does not provide 
dedicated parking for customers and is reliant on local public parking facilities.

Parking

The development results in loss of parking to the rear of the existing office. 
Customers / guests attending the site shall be required to use on-street, or 
public parking supply. The TS suggests that guests will favour this hotel for its 
proximity to the town centre, and rail and bus station. The site is approximately 
550m from the entrance to the Howards Gate Centre / Station. Such a distance 
represents a 6-7 minute walk, and is served by pedestrian routes, and 
predominantly level. It is not, unreasonable, to consider that guests shall travel 
by such modes – particularly recognising that WGC (until recently) hotel 
provision was further removed from the Town Centre, and therefore more 
reliant on car borne custom. The County Councils own LTP4 presents a user 
hierarchy that supports development that enables non-car travel. The position 
of the hotel supports accessibility by such modes.

I recognise that there is a consented hotel development in the town centre, 
presently being implemented (Gate House, Fretherne Road – District reference 
6/2016/2214/MAJ). This development provided 12 parking spaces to provide 
for 79 rooms, or 1 space per 6 rooms (approx.). It is recognised that this 
development is within the Town Centre itself – with the application site located 
just outside the identified town centre boundary. However, application of a 
similar level of provision would suggest the application would be required to 
provide 2 parking spaces.

The TS describes conditions, locally, available for parking. There are significant 
areas of car parking available, both on-street and within public (chargeable) 
provision, including – but not limited to – Campus West, Sainsbury (Church 
Road surface and multi-storey), Bridge Road. The TS is inexact, as it quotes 
John Lewis, however, this car park is privately owned and available only to 
customers

The LPA shall wish to ensure that they are satisfied that sufficient space exists 
to accommodate any such parking demand. The TS presents that the site is in 
close proximity to parking on Parkway, which are marked bays adjacent to the 
kerb. Parking within the immediate vicinity of the site is subject to control (2 hr 
max, no return within 2 hours) between hours of 8am and 6pm, however for 
guest parking would represent an opportunity for free overnight parking. 
Restrictions in adjacent roads include Russellcroft Road.

It is the highway authority’s understanding that the Borough undertook Town 
Centre car parking studies in the last two years and therefore that the LPA, in 
consultation with their parking team, shall be able to assess the adequacy of 

Page 18



parking controls and availability to establish the impacts of any parking likely to 
occur associated with the use sought.

On behalf of the County Council as Highway Authority I am satisfied that 
proposals shall not cause an unacceptable impact on the local highway in terms 
of parking.

Servicing

The Highway Authority, in considering this site, has sought to ensure 
arrangements for servicing associated with the use of the site are acceptable. 
Development proposals remove the driveway to this site. Such an arrangement 
is acceptable to the Highway Authority, as it removes the requirement for 
vehicles to reverse onto / off the local distributor function, nor interfere with 
pedestrians using the footway along Parkway.

The Transport Statement includes at Appendix C, a draft servicing 
management plan. The TS presents the level of deliveries to the site as low, 
numbering 14 large movements per week (2 per day). The TS sets out that the 
hotel might generate up to 2 large vehicle deliveries per day, having considered 
that the results from TRICs appear to be low. The TS recognises that the 
servicing requirements are unknown at this time, however the levels describe 
do not exceed that previously found acceptable by the Highway Authority.

The removal of vehicle access to the site does require servicing to occur from 
the highway, and such an arrangement shall need to have regard to local 
parking controls and restrictions.

The application suggests that all deliveries shall be undertaken such that they 
may reasonably use local on street facilities, and present – through the Delivery 
Management Plan (draft) all deliveries and servicing to be undertaken before 
8.30am, they having demonstrated that the parking on-street is sufficiently 
undersubscribed that this would be reasonable to achieve. Subject to the LPA 
determining, through the above mentioned study commissioned by the District 
parking team that this is reasonable and workable, it remains acceptable to the 
Highway Authority. It might be considered reasonable to adjust local 
(immediate) bays to protect their use to loading / unloading only until 8.30am 
(from 7.30am, representing hour from which enforcement activity shall occur), 
reverting to parking after 8.30. Such an adjustment to parking controls might 
reasonably protect their use to support the delivery management plan, but shall 
be for the LPA under their responsibilities for parking enforcement to agree. I 
have revised the condition slightly in order that start time of deliveries is defined, 
but satisfied that the LPA may elect to change this in consideration of residential 
amenity.

The Draft Delivery Management Plan is acceptable, and should be 
appropriately secured via s106 or condition, linked to the use. At the advice of 
the LPAs parking team, a contribution towards the cost of providing appropriate 
revisions to parking controls within Parkway should be secured.

Page 19



Sustainability

The site is approx. 5m walk from the centre of the main shopping area and rail 
station. Bus and rail services are available in this area in easy accessible reach, 
however it is recognised that bus frequencies decrease in the evening. The 
town centre is provided with a large amount of public pay and display / pay on 
exit parking as well as on-street parking provision, all controlled by the Local 
Authority. Parkway provides pedestrian routes across the central plaza 
connecting Parkway to the wider town centre, with the site within 30m of 
controlled crossing points on Parkway for pedestrian safety.

The original application represented a public house to an area of 914m2 – the 
revised submission represents a proposed hotel and a reduction in in floor area. 
Such a change is immaterial in terms of overall traffic impact. The Transport 
Statement remains presented on the assumptions of the greater area, and 
therefore represents the impacts upon which HCC have previously commented. 
It is therefore necessary and appropriate to reproduce my earlier comments 
and recommendations.

Conclusion
The proposed change of use is unlikely to result in a significant increase in 
vehicle trips to the site, and therefore the HA present no objection subject to 
securing the Servicing Management Plan in order that deliveries to the site are 
managed in a fashion that they may reasonably be accommodated within 
existing on street parking provision and not interfere with the wider operation of 
Parkway.

A S106 agreement should be secured requiring that the delivery management 
plan shall be implemented and maintained thereafter, ensuring that all delivery 
and servicing movements are accomplished after 6am but before 8.30am daily.

1) Prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted the existing vehicle 
crossover to the site shall be removed, and the footway reinstated to the same 
line / level and construction as the adjacent footway to the satisfaction of the 
highway authority. Appropriate frontage treatment should be applied to prevent 
unauthorised use of this area for loading / parking. 
Reason: In the interest of pedestrian safety.

8.7 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Environmental Health - recommend 
Refusal of Permission.

 Considerations relevant to Environmental Health for this application 
Noise from customers 
Noise from plant and equipment 
Noise from activities associated with a bar/hotel 
Odour 

Noise from customers 
A significant emphasis is being placed on the bar element of the proposed 
development as being ancillary to the overall usage, although it is still open to the 

Page 20



general public and shows a seating capacity of approximately 66 places (not 
including the potential for people to stand by the bar). 
The location of the bar area is much improved compared to the layout from 
previous applications, it is now set further within the building and will be shielded 
from the residential properties to the rear by the bedrooms at the back of the 
premises. 

As per the previous applications for this site, noise from customers is the main 
concern. Various areas of the premises will have differing impacts in terms of 
amenity and it is felt that breaking these down helps to get a better idea of where 
the main issues are. 

Internal noise from customers 
Internal noise from customers is one area that it is unlikely to cause a detrimental 
impact as long as doors and windows remain closed. The rear of the building will 
be made up of the hotel rooms and as such will provide a significant amount of 
noise attenuation. The side of the building where seating is proposed (south) would 
be the main breakout area for noise, but with a suitable glazing scheme, this would 
be controllable, even when taking into account raised voices. 

External noise from customers 
Information provided by the applicant states that customers will not have access to 
the rear garden area. However, Appendix I of the acoustic report shows the 
smoking area at the South side of the building (outside the fire exit door as per the 
floor plans) which leads to the garden area.  If customers stay just outside this 
door, there will be an element of shielding from the building, but not enough to 
significantly attenuate noise. There is no indication that there is either a 
management plan or a physical barrier to prevent customers from wandering 
further down the side of the building and into the garden at the rear.  

PLEASE NOTE that revised plans now show the smoking area south of the building 
enclosed with acoustic fences to mitigate noise).

The NOEL, LOAEL and SOAEL levels mentioned on page 7 of the report which 
are attributed to WHBC guidance relate only to traffic noise, but they are not 
acceptable criteria to use when assessing noise from peoples or machinery as they 
have been within this report. Experience has shown that acceptance of noise levels 
associated with traffic is higher than that of people or commercial noise, and a loss 
of amenity can occur at levels much lower than limits set in the report. 

Subjective assessment from being in the area late at night/ early in the morning 
when involved in previous planning applications for this site as well as being on 
shift for the night noise service showed that noise from customers in the smoking 
area from a bar along parkway was audible at Asquith House. Bringing customers 
even closer would potentially cause a loss of amenity and raises serious concerns. 

The above makes the assessment of people in the smoking area within the 
Spectrum Acoustic report seem quite conservative, however, even taking into 
account the LA max levels of 44,46 and 47 at the nearest residential units would 
equate to 34,36 and 37dB internally (assuming 10dB attenuation for an open 
window) which would be audible and annoying. For instance, this department has 

Page 21



dealt with complaints relating to internal noise levels lower than this within 
bedrooms.
 
This is not seen as a detailed assessment as additional detail is required, for 
instance, there is no mention of the number of people in the smoking area or even 
an average level of noise created by these customers. It is then assumed that this 
noise level relates to only one person shouting, which would be unlikely during a 
busy summer nights trading, therefore making this assessment appear 
conservative in its estimations. 

People are more sensitive to noise from shouting than noise from traffic as this is 
an anonymous noise source, and would be more likely to result in complaints to 
this department.

Preventing the outside use of a smoking area too early (by management means) 
would most likely be seen as inhibitive, especially as the business operating hours 
are proposed as 07.00am to 00.30am Sunday to Thursday and 07.00am to 
01.30am Fridays and Saturdays with an extra hour at other times of year. This 
again raises the likelihood of detrimental impact on amenity to residential 
properties in the area.

Noise from customers leaving late at night, as observed from other public houses 
can be a significant source of disturbance, and sometimes involves people hanging 
around an area, waiting for taxis or lifts from friends or family. Large groups 
normally leave at the same time in line with closing hours, which can lead to high 
levels of noise. 

In all aspects of noise from customers, various controls are mentioned within the 
noise impact assessment and other material, such as signs saying to leave quietly, 
door staff and management telling people to quieten down. One issue with some 
of these measures is that the damage is normally done by the time management 
have spoken to people, and generally the noise doesn’t just drop to nothing 
immediately after requests for quiet are made. Once customers have left the 
premises, staff will have limited influence on their behaviour

Noise from plant and equipment 
The noise impact assessment looks at plant noise in terms of a NOEL of 55dB, this 
is in contradiction to what would be required by this department, as any plant or 
equipment, if tonal would have to be 10dB below the background noise level at the 
nearest noise sensitive property. 
The report shows a noise level of 31dB or below at the nearest residential 
properties, meaning that the required noise levels could potentially be met. This is 
in relation to a reception point on the south elevation of Asquith House. 
However, evaluating the iso-lines on the map for the Mechanical Plant Noise 
Prediction Model (with mitigation) assessment in Appendix G shows a 40dB Iso-
line, which from a site visit appears to interact with windows at Asquith House and 
raises the potential for complaints and loss of amenity.

Due to the close proximity to neighbouring properties, we would want to see more 
detail on this before permission were to be granted, including an assessment in 
terms of background noise at the nearest sensitive receptor (it is understood that 
readings were not taken at Asquith house for this report) and for shorter time 

Page 22



frames during the night so that a better understanding of impact can be determined 
as items like kitchen extract systems have a potential for causing disturbance. 
Tonality of any noise sources, even if at a low level could be detrimental to the 
amenity of neighbouring properties as has been seen at other properties when 
investigating complaints. 

Noise from other activities associated with a Bar/Hotel 
Emptying of bottle bins is briefly covered within the noise impact assessment and 
is stated as only occurring during the day and by a refuse vehicle on parkway. This 
is normally a very noisy occurrence, although admittedly short lived which would 
be likely at that time to cause disturbance and will most likely have line of sight to 
Asquith House, therefore causing disturbance. 

Deliveries would be another concern, and would have to be controlled so as to not 
take place during unsocial hours.  The report states that deliveries would take place 
outside the front of the premises, however, the plans show entrances to the cellar 
and kitchen on the north side of the building which will have line of sight with 
Asquith House, and it is assumed that these entrances would be used for 
deliveries. Taking into account the above information, noise from deliveries, as well 
as bottle and other waste collections could have a detrimental impact on the 
amenity of the area.

PLEASE NOTE that revised plans now show the service area on the north side of 
the building enclosed with acoustic fences to mitigate noise.

Odour 
In a previous application, an odour assessment was included, and the 
Environmental Health Officer who assessed the application was happy with its 
contents in terms of detail. An updated odour assessment would be useful, 
especially if there are variations to intensity of covers provided or changes to the 
menu. 

Just as with noise from equipment, long term maintenance of odour control 
measures is important to prevent complaints and we would want to also see an 
odour management place so that filters are changed at suitable intervals

EHO Response to further latest technical report from Spectrum 
Acoustics 

The technical document issued by Spectrum Acoustics covers many of the 
concerns raised in the earlier Consultation response. 

The revised response says that with the now proposed 3m high acoustic 
fencing LAmax of 43dB externally is to be expected (this equates to an 
internal noise level of 33dB assuming 10dB attenuation from a partially open 
window). As per the information within the consultation response, this 
department has dealt with noise sources internally that have been well below 
this level and caused a problem, in that case it was tonal noise, however, in 
this case, noise from voices is in the frequency range in which hearing is most 
sensitive and is likely to be picked up by someone, leading to annoyance 
even though lower than the WHO 45dB level. 

Page 23



This is due to the type of noise  Again, traffic noise at that level is generally 
ignored, however, as stated above, voices are something that would be 
picked up on.

We have also investigated noise complaints about smoking areas and beers 
gardens which would not amount to a statutory nuisance, therefore preventing 
further action to be taken, but still a cause of annoyance from the noise 
created, and therefore a detrimental impact on amenity.

In terms of customers leaving late at night and getting taxis from outside the 
front of the premises, the following statement was made:
“The area at the front of the building is within the demise of the town centre, 
so noise levels associated with these activities would not be out of character 
with the area”

I would unfortunately disagree with this point, as I cannot see anything in this 
area that would encourage people from the main town centre to go near this 
building. There is a wide green separating the frontage to the edge of the 
main town centre area, the closest licensed premises is Cote Brasserie at 
65m away and the Two Willows is over 100m away. The Parkway Bar which 
is currently closed is over 60m away too.  As such, even taking into account 
the shielding of the building and proposed 3m high barriers, there is still the 
real concern that a detrimental impact will occur.

The noise from plant and equipment is now less of a concern due to the 
proposed additional 20dB in-line silencer, with a modelled specific noise level 
now being 32dB(A) at Asquith House and lower than this at other sensitive 
receptors elsewhere.

Noise from bottling and deliveries has also been covered, however, details of 
expected noise levels have not been provided. For instance, some deliveries 
are moved in metal cages which can be noisy along concrete paths etc, it is 
not clear how these deliveries will take place.

There is still a concern of a detrimental impact on the amenity of the residents 
of Asquith House, and I would still recommend refusal at this stage.

9. Analysis

8.1 The main planning issues to be considered are:
1. Is the principle of a public house within the Town Centre area and on
the west side of Parkway acceptable (Local Plan Policies TCR11, TCR12,
CLT 6 and NPPF paragraph 85)
2. The quality of design and the impact upon the character of the
conservation area (Policies TCR11, D1, D2, D8, R11 and NPPF
Paragraphs 124 - 132)
3. Impact upon the landscape and trees (policies D2, D8)
4. Impact upon neighbouring residents
5.   Highway and transportation issues
6.   Refuse and recycling storage

Page 24



7    Crime and Disorder and the Fear of Crime
8    Job creation/economic benefits

1. Is the principle of a public house within the Town Centre area and 
on the west side of Parkway acceptable

8.2 22 Parkway and the row of buildings to the north and the gardens to the south, 
are located within Welwyn Garden City Town Centre as defined in the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005.  District Plan saved policy CLT6 hotels says 
preferred locations for hotels are in the districts town centres and “in all cases 
the council will only permit proposals for hotels where (i) there is no harmful 
impact on the amenities of nearby residential properties and other uses; (ii) the 
development is in keeping with the scale and character of the surrounding area; 
and (iii) the development is easily accessible by passenger transport, walking 
and cycling.” 

8.3 Within the Town Centre there are a number of sub-areas identified, each of 
which contains a different range of uses.  Properties on the west side of 
Parkway, including the application site “contain office and surgery uses… They 
are important buildings fronting Parkway and within the Conservation Area. 
Therefore the Council will support conversion or change of use for uses falling 
within Classes D1 and B1(a).” (Para. 13.30.3 Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005).  The District Plan recognises that the area provides a buffer between the 
retail core and the adjoining residential area and saved policy TCR11 applies 
to the area. It says the Council will “allow proposals for the conversion and 
change of use of buildings for office, community, cultural and residential uses 
(Use Classes B1(a), C3 and D1) provided that the proposal would:

(i) Preserve or enhance the character of the Conservation Area: and
(ii) Not harm the amenities of the occupiers of nearby residential areas.”

8.4 The District Plan identified the primary retail core (on the opposite side of 
Parkway) as being the area suitable for A3 uses (now A3, A4 and A5 uses) and 
even within the primary retail core Policy TCR10 sought to ensure development 
that would “(ii) preserve and enhance the character of the conservation area; 
(iii) not harm the amenities of occupiers of nearby residential areas...”

8.5 The District Plan dates from 2005 and new policy contained in The National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has been produced with respect to town 
centres. The NPPF recommends adoption of a positive strategy for the future 
of town centres and allocation of suitable sites in town centres to meet the scale 
and type of development likely to be needed.  The applicants have suggested 
that in view of the age of Policy TCR11 and the publication of more recent 
Guidance contained within the NPPF then “it is considered that only a limited 
amount of weight can be afforded to Saved Policy TCR11, particularly as in the 
applicants view it undermines other guidance within the NPPF which seeks to 
promote and strengthen town centres by providing a range of facilities and 
offers choice to customers”. 

8.6 It is however clear that if regard is to be had to the development plan for the 
purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts the 

Page 25



determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise, and so despite its age the adopted District 
Plan remains of relevance.  Whilst the NPPF does look to encourage new town 
centre businesses and economic development generally it does also recognise 
they should be in appropriate locations where the impacts are considered to be 
acceptable.  So whilst one could argue that Policy TCR11 may in some respects 
be out of date it is clear that the objectives of Policy TCR11, and of other Town 
Centre policies such as TCR10, to ensure that any new development and uses 
do not harm the amenities of the area or the living conditions of its neighbours, 
are considered to be consistent with other parts of the NPPF when the 
document is read as a whole. The NPPF continues to recognise the importance 
of securing development that does not harm the living conditions of 
neighbouring residents and which does not harm the character and appearance 
of conservation areas and other heritage assets.

8.7 Paragraph 85(b) of the NPPF in the section “Ensuring the Vitality of Town 
Centres” requires LPAs to “define the extent of town centres and primary 
shopping areas, and make clear the range of uses permitted in such locations, 
as part of a positive strategy for the future of each centre.”  The 2005 Plan does 
this and identifies a range of uses considered acceptable on this stretch of 
Parkway.  The emerging Draft Local Plan Proposed Submission (August 2016) 
similarly identifies this stretch of Parkway  for “office, cultural, community, 
education and residential uses” provided that the proposal would meet a range 
of development criteria including once again (ii) preserve and enhance the 
character of the Conservation Area and, (iii) not harm the amenities of the 
occupiers of nearby residential areas.  So whilst the current District Plan may 
be some years old and the emerging plan is not yet adopted there is evidence 
of a consistent approach to this site and its surroundings over a number of 
years.  It is considered that the proposal would conflict both with policies of the 
adopted District Plan and the emerging Local Plan.

8.8 Whilst each application must be considered on its own individual merits the 
proposed hotel use in this location would not accord with development plan 
policy if it is considered to have harmful impacts upon the amenities of nearby 
residents, it if is considered out of keeping with the scale and character of the 
area or if it would cause harm to the character and appearance of heritage 
assets or other harm is identified.  In these circumstances other material 
considerations must outweigh these policies if the application is to be permitted.

2. The quality of design and the impact upon the character of the
conservation area (Policies TCR11, D1, D2, D8, and NPPF
Paragraphs 126 - 141)

8.9 The Local Planning Authority has a duty to ensure that new development either 
preserves or enhances the character and appearance of conservation areas.  
Paragraph 193 of the NPPF says “When considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be).”  Paragraph 194 says “Any harm to, or loss 
of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or 

Page 26



destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and 
convincing justification”.

8.10 The application is supported by a Heritage Statement.  The writer concludes 
that “This assessment has considered the impact of the proposed development 
upon the significance of the Conservation Area in detail, and identified No 
Harm”.  This conclusion is justified on the basis that “The external domestic 
character of the principle elevation of the building, which contributes to the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area, will not be altered. As a 
result, the transitional role of Parkway will not be harmed and the historic 
domestic character of the western extent of Parkway will remain appreciable.  
It is possible that the extension will be visible to the rear of Number 22 as a 
result of the demolition of the existing garage. However, the domestic character 
of the building is best appreciated through its Neo-Georgian façade as part of 
the streetscape along the Western extent of Parkway and this will remain 
unaltered”.

8.11 Whilst the ‘residential origins’ of the house design will clearly remain even after 
the works proposed and its principal elevation is least affected by the proposed 
development it is considered that the appearance of the remaining elevations 
and the space around the building are also factors that need assessment.  In 
this instance, as on previous applications, it is considered that the scale of 
works proposed are unacceptable.  The application building is located in a very 
prominent position facing onto Parkway and its southern side elevation is also 
exposed because it abuts the Reiss Memorial Gardens. Parkway is an 
unregistered historic garden and identified as Urban Open Land in the District 
Plan. The presence of this formal planned open space that is central to the 
character and appearance of the conservation area on two sides of the building 
result in the building being amongst the most prominent and visible buildings in 
the area. The building sits towards the front of the plot with what was originally 
a deep rear garden with mature planting around its perimeter now slightly 
reduced since the building was extended. From most public vantage points the 
property retains much the same appearance that it would have had when first 
built but with a greater maturity resulting from the growth of the landscape 
around it. The building however does not stand in isolation, it is one of six 
stretching northwards towards The Campus. Whilst each of the buildings has 
been extended to some degree their appearance from Parkway has remained 
largely intact and as individual buildings and as a group they have retained 
much of their original integrity, intimately related to the formal setting within 
which they are placed. Given the building’s prominence and also the fact that 
this building and its neighbours have managed to essentially retain their original 
appearance and close relationship with Parkway and the memorial gardens in 
the planned architectural form designed from the very outset of the Garden City, 
they are regarded as highly important to the heritage asset (conservation area 
and unregistered gardens) and therefore great weight should be given to 
preserving their character and appearance.  Whilst not individually listed 
buildings because of their importance they are regarded as non-designated 
heritage assets within the conservation area.

Page 27



8.12 Whilst the extension now proposed is reduced since the previous application 
for a public house was refused, the footprint of the proposed extension still is 
not subservient to the host building and although the extension may be partly 
obscured from view it would clearly not be of a scale that reflects the origins of 
the building and its very strongly planned design and setting.  The importance 
of the spacing between buildings, the depths of gardens and space around this 
building and its neighbours is strongly characteristic of its history and 
appreciation of this part of the conservation area.

8.13 Members should note also that in 2009 planning permission was refused to 
extend the adjoining Doctor’s Surgery to within approximately 18 metres of the 
rear boundary because it was considered “its siting, depth and size, together 
with the existing extensions at the property, would be out of keeping with the 
scale, form and character of the original property” (ref. N6/2009/1745/FP). 
Planning permission was subsequently granted for a smaller extension.

8.14 In 2007 an application for a detached building behind number 18 was refused 
planning permission because of its adverse impact upon the setting of the 
building and conservation area. An appeal was lodged and in his decision 
(dismissed) the Inspector said “Although there is an essentially limited angle of 
viewpoints within which the new building would be seen in the gap between 
nos. 18 and 20; to my mind the openness of the space behind these buildings 
as seen through the gaps between them is an important part of the character 
of the group, and the intrusion of this new building into that space is a matter of 
concern, particularly as seen from viewpoints other than in Parkway”. He also 
said “From Russellcroft Road to the south, there is a view over a small public 
garden across the rear of all six properties in the group… a significant element 
of the character of this view is the openness at the rear of the frontage 
properties and the space between them and the buildings to the rear in 
Guessens Road.” (APP/C1950/A/07/2053874).

8.15 In 2005 an application was refused and an appeal was dismissed for a rear 
extension on number 14 Parkway with the Inspector remarking that “the 
extensions would add considerably to the existing bulk at the rear of the appeal 
property and, whilst there would only be glimpses of the resultant building from 
Parkway and the amenity area, from the rear and side aspects this increased 
scale, height and bulk would be evident. These views are important in the 
context of the Conservation Area as a whole…”

8.16 The evidence of previous decisions, including those of the Planning 
Inspectorate is that it is not the case that if a development is not prominent or 
cannot easily be seen, that its impact upon on the character of an area is 
necessarily acceptable. In connection with the current application once again 
this council’s conservation officer concludes that “this form of development will 
detract from the understanding of spatial planning of the Garden City, making 
the buildings north of Russellcroft Road commercial in use in contrast to their 
historic planned use. This will cause harm to the character of the conservation 
area.  The gardens to the south of Number 22 are one of the best places in 
Parkway to appreciate the layout of the Garden City. This is currently 
experienced in some tranquillity which may be intrusively impact by the 
proposal with regard to the noise and lighting which may result”… “this proposal 

Page 28



will cause less than substantial harm to the conservation area and harm to 
Number 22, a non-designated heritage asset”.

8.17 Despite reductions in the size of the extension since the last unsuccessful 
planning application it is still considered that the building now proposed would 
represent a significant overdevelopment of the plot with an extension that pays 
little regard to the scale, appearance of the building, contrary to the aims of 
saved local plan policies D1, D2 and TCR11.  Such poorly designed extensions 
and this level of overdevelopment would be likely to be unacceptable in any 
location but this plot is in the heart of the Welwyn Garden City Conservation 
Area adjacent to formal areas of urban open land identified as unregistered 
historic gardens. This part of the Conservation Area derives much of its 
character from openness and space between the buildings fronting Parkway 
and those in Guessens Road to the rear and open formal space forward of the 
building line facing onto Parkway.

8.18 Whilst it is not possible to pre-judge any proposals for lighting or advertising on 
the hotel if planning permission is granted, it is clear that the introduction of 
significant new advertising signs, or significantly elevated levels of illumination 
will also alter the visual amenity and characteristics of this part of the 
conservation area.  In its current planned form commercial activity, signage and 
illumination is very much concentrated on the eastern side of Parkway with a 
deliberate and planned change to a more residential character on the western 
side of Parkway.  The level of commercial activity proposed with the hotel and 
bar is likely to alter the manner in which this part of the conservation area is 
experienced changing the character of is use as well as its appearance.  

8.19 Plans originally showed a large fume extract chimney appearing above the 
ridge of the building which was considered to be an entirely unacceptable 
visual addition.  This has since been redesigned so that it now can be located 
within the roof of the building discharging via louvres in the side of one of the 
rear dormer windows.  This is considered a much improved solution in terms 
of visual impact on the non-designated building and the wider designated 
conservation area but it does not overcome the other objections referred to 
above.

8.20 Whilst the proposed development will clearly not see substantial harm to the 
conservation area in the sense that the building will not be substantially lost, 
where it is assessed that there would be less than substantial harm to a heritage 
asset paragraph 196 of the NPPF still makes it clear that “this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use”. 

8.21 It is your officer’s view that the development will result in less than substantial 
harm to the conservation area and harm to the non-designated heritage asset 
(the building) and so in heritage terms should be refused unless the public 
benefits of the proposal outweigh that harm.

3. Impact upon the landscape and trees

Page 29



8.22 The bulk of the plot to the rear of the building is now hard-standing however 
there remains a number of trees and shrub planting around the boundaries of 
the site.  The proposed extension will come to within 11.4 metres of the rear 
boundary and so the planting present to the rear of the plot is likely to remain 
unaffected and might even be enhanced with new planting.  On each side 
boundary however it is proposed to remove some trees and vegetation.  These 
trees/shrubs have been assessed as of relatively poor quality and not worthy 
of a preservation order, however their presence does provide an attractive 
green screen to the site.  If removed there would therefore be some short term 
harm to the appearance of the immediate area and the site might become more 
visible from the adjoining public gardens, however it is considered that tree 
protection measures, careful construction and replacement planting could 
mitigate this harm in the longer term.  For this reason the council’s tree officer 
considers that planning conditions would be adequate to protect and ultimately 
enhance the treescape around the site.  

4. Impact upon neighbouring residents

8.23 The previous planning application for a public house at the site was refused for 
a reason including its likely impact upon the amenity of nearby neighbours.  It 
was considered that despite the presence of a proposed acoustic fence and 
management initiatives regarding hours of usage it would have been likely to 
have a seriously adverse effect upon the amenity of nearby neighbours who 
are used to a quiet aural environment.  It is necessary therefore to ask whether 
the present proposal for a hotel with a bar/dining area for non-residents would 
alter this harm significantly?  

8.24 There is no doubt that the presence of hotel rooms themselves would create a 
barrier between noise and activity within the building and the nearest dwellings 
to the rear of the site on Guessens Road.  The absence of a beer garden 
similarly will remove direct noise sources (people) from close to the rear 
boundary with people’s homes.  In this sense therefore the proposal must be 
considered to be different from earlier proposals for the site.  

8.25 It is equally clear however that in other respects there remain a number of 
similarities.  Despite the hotel use the premise will be open to non-residents, 
potentially in significant numbers.  The projected hours of operation from 07.00 
am to between 00.30 and 01.30 am remain as before.  There is also a smoking 
area of 14 sq m to the south of the building enclosed with acoustic fences 
between 2m and 3m high, much smaller than the beer garden once proposed 
and more distant from neighbouring homes, but still outside of the building.  The 
building will have similar deliveries and collections and so in terms of likely 
impacts is considered similar to a public house without accommodation.  

8.26 These similarities are reflected in the advice of the council’s environmental 
health officers who despite acknowledging some improvements continue to 
object, particularly on the grounds of likely noise disturbance for residents 
resulting not only from noise generated on and within the premises but also 
associated with the additional activity of customers coming and going late into 
the night, which of course cannot be controlled by the hotel management.  
Given the undoubtedly quiet character of this area, particularly late at night 

Page 30



these impacts are likely to be acutely felt by the nearest residents.  In your 
officer’s opinion therefore the use as a hotel with a bar/dining area as proposed 
will cause harm to the living conditions of neighbours because of additional 
activity and noise late into the night.  The acoustic reports accompanying the 
application model and predict noise impacts associated with people and 
mechanical noise but the council’s EHO still is critical of the assessment and 
its findings and maintains objections to the proposal considering the living 
conditions of near neighbours will be adversely affected by the development.  
The proposal would therefore conflict with the objectives of Policy TCR11 of the 
Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 which seeks to ensure new development 
has no adverse effect on the amenity of occupiers of nearby residential areas 
and Policy R19 which seeks to refuse development likely to result in 
unacceptable levels of noise, and is contrary to advice contained in the National 
Planning Policy Framework paragraph 180..

5. Highway and transportation issues

8.27 Hertfordshire County Council (Transport, Programmes and Strategy) 
(HCCTPS) is critical of the submitted transport statement accompanying the 
application but having compared the likely highway impacts with the proposal 
for a larger public house on the same site (which it accepted in 2016) concludes 
that it does not wish to restrict the grant of permission subject to conditions 
being imposed.  HCCTPS agrees that on a pro-rata assessment, against 
previously agreed vehicle trip rates, the proposed bar / dining area may give 
rise to 3 two way vehicle trips in the lunchtime peak (13:00 – 14:00) and 4 in 
the evening peak (17:00 – 18:00). The HA are satisfied that the proposals, 
measured against the trip rate characteristics of either Hotel or Public House, 
would not be considered severe. Trips generated by either use, in the AM and 
PM peak, would be beneath that commonly expected for a building of the 
applicant site scale (471m2) within B1 office use. 

8.28 The level of trips generated by the site shall not be unacceptable nor have a 
severe impact on the highway network. Peak hours for the proposed use are 
outside of accepted daily peaks on the highway network. 

8.29 The HCCTPS suggest that the Local Planning Authority (LPA), in consultation 
with the council’s parking team, should assess the adequacy of parking controls 
and availability of spaces in the vicinity to establish the impacts of any parking 
likely to occur associated with the hotel.  The councils published parking 
standards are now considerably out of date but for a hotel recommend a 
maximum of 1 space per bedroom plus spaces for staff and additional spaces 
calculated on the basis of area of dining area and bar area.  In locations that 
are well served by other means of transport the council applies these standards 
with some considerable flexibility and has accepted central developments in 
sustainable locations which are accessible by other means of transport with a 
much lower standard of parking provision.  It should be noted that there are 
town centre businesses in the vicinity that also make no provision for customer 
or staff car parking and the Council’s Parking and Cemetery Services Manager 
does not object to the application but advises that contributions may be required 
to secure additional funding for extended hours of traffic/parking enforcement if 

Page 31



parking restrictions were to be altered as proposed in the application (the 
application suggests that all deliveries shall be undertaken such that they may 
reasonably use local on-street facilities and be undertaken before 8.30am).  
Such an approach is considered reasonable in terms of safety and parking 
limitations in the area and similar arrangements would apply to other similar 
businesses operating nearby, restaurants on Howardsgate for example.

8.30 A S106 agreement could be secured requiring that a delivery management plan 
shall be produced and implemented and maintained thereafter, ensuring that 
all delivery and servicing movements are accomplished after 6am but before 
8.30am daily and that a contribution be made towards any changes to localised 
on street parking controls and for an enhanced level of traffic enforcement 
funding related to the additional hours of operation.

8.31 Whilst the development would, if permitted result in the loss of parking spaces 
presently at the rear of the building the site is located in a sustainable location 
where a lower provision may be acceptable.  The County Highway Authority 
considers that trips generated by the site shall not be unacceptable nor have a 
severe impact on the highway network and the council’s Parking Services 
Manager also has no objection to the proposal on parking grounds.  The 
highways and parking impacts of the development are therefore considered to 
be acceptable.

6. Refuse and recycling Storage

8.32 The hotel use will generate significant levels of commercial waste including 
kitchen waste and glass. Waste collection from the site is likely to be by a 
commercial contractor and so the distance of the bins (at the side of the site) to 
the kerbside is considered acceptable. The location of the bin storage area 
however, would be relatively close to existing homes and very close to the 
adjacent doctor’s surgery and is likely to generate noise and possibly flies and 
vermin if not managed correctly. The management of waste is controlled by 
other legislation and conditions could be imposed on any planning permission 
that might prevent bins being emptied at unsocial hours of the day.

7. Crime and Disorder and the Fear of Crime

8.33 Crime and the fear of crime are material considerations in the consideration of 
an application and it is clear that many residents are fearful of criminal of anti-
social behaviour associated with the sale of alcohol on the premises.  Such 
activity could of course have a potentially adverse effect upon the amenity of 
residents and the wider area, however they are also matters that are taken into 
account in connection with the licensing of premises and is controlled by other 
legislation and so it is considered that on its own it does not provide sufficient 
reason to refuse planning permission, but when considered in conjunction with 
other harmful impacts of the development will contribute to perceived harm 
associated with the development.

8. Job creation/economic benefits

Page 32



8.34 It is clear that the NPPF encourages local authorities to “support the role that 
town centres play at the heart of local communities, by taking a positive 
approach to their growth, management and adaptation”.  There is an explicit 
acceptance that town centres may “grow and diversify in a way that can 
respond to rapid changes in the retail and leisure industries, allows a suitable 
mix of uses (including housing) and reflects their distinctive characters”.  Hotels 
are in principle acceptable within the town centre (as is the case here) but 
development plan policies and the NPPF also acknowledge that changes 
should “reflect their distinctive characters.”  Many letters of support for the 
proposal suggest there is a demand for the proposed hotel, a significant number 
of objectors also recognise the need to improve the range of facilities in the 
town, but it is clear that this should not be to the detriment of heritage assets or 
to the amenity of the area and its residents.  

8.35 The applicants suggest up to 50 jobs will be created within the hotel and there 
might also be linked jobs.  A number of representations suggest that this 
number is excessively high and the real number of jobs created might be much 
lower.  Reference to the HCA Employment Density Guide 2015 which offers 
broad guidance on employee numbers relative to space shows limited service 
hotels might have 1 employee per 3 bedrooms (3) and a restaurant/café might 
generate 1 job per 15/20 sq m space (8-10 jobs).  The Guide does not provide 
figures for a public bar.  These figures fall considerably short of the 50 jobs 
stated however the HCA document is merely a guide and different operators 
may have differing working practices and ratios.  It is clear however that the 
provision of new jobs in the town on a site where presently there are none is a 
benefit that must weigh in favour of the development, so too is the widening of 
the range of facilities and improvements to the night time economy in the town.  
However welcome this job creation and investment and improvements to the 
towns facilities might be it should not be to the detriment of heritage assets or 
to the amenity of the area and its residents.  It is again the officer’s view is that 
the positive benefits of job creation in this instance are not sufficient to 
overcome the harm arising from the site specific impacts of the development 
the subject of the planning application referred in other sections of this report.

9. Conclusion  

9.1 This proposal for a new hotel has, like former applications for a large public 
house, generated very significant levels of public interest.  Approximately two 
thirds of writers object to the proposal and one third support the scheme.  Even 
amongst those objecting there is an acknowledgement by many that the town 
would benefit from the investment, but in a different location.

9.2 Whilst the site is within the defined boundary of the town centre where leisure 
and hotels, bars and restaurants are encouraged to locate the impacts of such 
uses upon heritage assets, the immediate area and its residents are important 
material considerations to be taken account of.

9.3 The site is located in the heart of the Welwyn Garden City conservation area, 
fronting Parkway and adjacent to unregistered gardens and important open 
land.  It is one of the most prominent locations in the conservation area and 

Page 33



forms one of a group of early Welwyn Garden City houses recognised as being 
of particular importance to the conservation area.  The impacts of any new 
development upon its environs are important considerations but within 
conservation areas Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 makes clear that in exercise of its functions “the 
LPA must pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character or appearance of the conservation area”. In this instance the 
impacts of the development on the character and appearance of the 
conservation area are considered to be harmful, whilst they represent less than 
substantial harm to the designated heritage asset it is not considered that the 
harm is outweighed by public benefits. 

9.4 Because of the size and design of the extension relative to the existing building, 
and relative to its original smaller footprint and design, the works of extension 
are also considered to be harmful to the appearance and setting of number 22 
Parkway and its neighbours which are identified as non-designated heritage 
assets.  The NPPF makes clear that in weighing applications that directly or 
indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be 
required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of 
the heritage asset.  On balance it is considered the scale of harm is not 
outweighed by the benefits of the scheme such as the economic benefits of job 
creation, increased footfall and knock-on benefits for other businesses in the 
vicinity. 

9.3 In the past this council and the Planning Inspectorate has refused planning 
permission for large extensions on the rear of buildings in this row of 6 early 
Welwyn Garden City houses because of their perceived unacceptable scale 
and appearance.  The current application is likely to be similarly harmful and 
contrary to a range of development plan policies.

9.4 Whilst the hotel use and changes to the design of the extension and particularly 
the absence of a beer garden result in a significantly different proposal from 
that of former applications affecting the site the impacts of the proposal are  also 
considered to be similar to the some of the impacts of the former proposed 
public house use.   Clearly efforts have been made to reduce and overcome 
the effects of noise and disturbance associated with an A4 drinking 
establishment but this remains a substantial element of the intended hotel use 
and proposed acoustic fences and management initiatives regarding hours of 
usage are considered unlikely to be sufficiently effective to mitigate against 
what are likely to be seriously adverse effects upon the amenity of nearby 
neighbours who are used to a quiet aural environment.  Harm to the 
amenity/living conditions of nearby residents arising from (i) noise emanating 
from the hotel bar/dining area and smoking area during the day and evening 
caused by customers and general servicing activity associated with use of the 
public house and (ii) additional activity and noise associated with comings and 
goings of customers into the early morning each day.  The proposal would 
therefore conflict with the objectives of Policies CLT6 and TCR11 of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005 which seeks to ensure new development has no 
adverse effect on the amenity of occupiers of nearby residential areas and 
Policy R19 which seeks to refuse development likely to result in unacceptable 

Page 34



levels of noise, and is contrary to advice contained in the National Planning 
Policy Framework paragraph 180.

10. Recommendation
.
10.1 It is recommended that planning permission be REFUSED for the following 

reasons:

1. The proposed extension represents a significant increase in the 
footprint and bulk of the building and is considered to represent an 
overdevelopment of the plot such that it fails to reflect the form, scale, setting 
and design of the existing building, neighbouring buildings and the spaces 
around it.  It would introduce a character and intensity of use that fails to 
reflect its surroundings contrary to the aims of Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 
2005 Policies D1 and D2 and contrary to the aims of the National Planning 
Policy Framework Paragraphs 127 which requires good design in all 
developments.

2. The proposed extension and alterations would result in a building that 
fails to reflect and respond to the deliberately planned spatial pattern of 
buildings, gardens and open space and separation between buildings on 
Parkway and Guessens Road.  These features are important to the form, 
character and appearance of buildings and spaces along this and other 
sections of Parkway and the wider Welwyn Garden City conservation area.  
The development would therefore harm the character and appearance of this 
very important part of the Welwyn Garden City Conservation Area and 
unregistered historic park and garden (Parkway and The Campus) and would 
harm the appearance of the building which is a non-designated heritage 
asset.  This harm is judged not to be outweighed by any substantial public 
benefits and is therefore considered to conflict with Policies R28, D1, D2 and 
TCR11(i) of the Welwyn Hatfield District Plan 2005 and is contrary to 
paragraph 196 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

3. The proposed hotel use with its associated public bar and dining area 
will significantly intensify the usage of the building throughout the day and into 
the early morning each day and thus significantly intensify the commercial 
character and appearance of the building and this row of buildings on the 
western side of Parkway which to date has had a relatively tranquil character.  
The development will therefore adversely affect the way in which the building 
and its neighbours are currently perceived and experienced as part of a wider 
group of original homes in the planned Welwyn Garden City Conservation 
Area, failing to better reveal its historic significance as a designated heritage 
asset and in the case of 22 Parkway, as a non-designated heritage asset.  
This change in the character and intensity of the use is therefore considered 
to conflict with the aims of saved Policies CLT6 and TCR11 (i) of the Welwyn 
Hatfield District Plan 2005 and is contrary to the aims of paragraphs 196, 197 
and 200 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

4. Use of the extended building as a hotel with associated public bar and 
dining area as proposed would, despite the presence of proposed acoustic 

Page 35



fences and management initiatives, be likely to have a seriously adverse 
effect upon the amenity of nearby neighbours who are used to a quiet aural 
environment.  Harm to amenity/living conditions would arise from (i) noise 
emanating from the hotel and its environs during the day and into the early 
morning each day caused by customers and general servicing activity; (ii) 
additional activity and noise associated with comings and goings of customers 
into the early morning each day.  The proposal is therefore judged to conflict 
with the objectives of Policies CLT6 and TCR11 of the Welwyn Hatfield 
District Plan 2005 which seeks to ensure new development has no adverse 
effect on the amenity of occupiers of nearby residential areas and Policy R19 
which seeks to refuse development likely to result in unacceptable levels of 
noise, and is contrary to advice contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraph 180.

Michael Robinson, (Development Management)
Date 29/10/2018
Expiry Date: 21/09/2018

Page 36



Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 8 NOVEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

Appeal Decisions 30/09/2018 to 24/10/2018

6/2016/2700/MAJ

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/17/3188195
Appeal By: Mr P Prebble

Site: Land adjacent to Sewells Welwyn Garden City AL8 7SN
Proposal: The construction of 11 x three bedroom houses, a new vehicular access from 

Sewells and associated car parking.
Decision: Appeal Dismissed

Decision Date: 01/10/2018
Delegated or DMC 
Decision:

Delegated

Summary: The key issues were identified as the impact of the proposed development on the 
character and appearance of the area, the living conditions of adjoining residential 
occupiers, the effect of the development on the setting of the Grade II* listed 
railway viaduct and the impact of the development on the Council’s policies for 
Urban Open land within its area. The Inspector found that the proposal would 
include a terrace of three houses within 9m of the northern boundary f the site, 
virtually under the canopy of the very large mature trees between the site and the 
A1000. They would be clearly visible from the A1000 and were found to intrude 
into this otherwise undeveloped area. Further, the two terraces of three houses in 
the northern half of the site, along with the 12 parking spaces and the access road 
were found to impact considerably on the character and appearance of the area, 
and to have a harmful effect. Overall, the Inspector found that there would be an 
urbanising appearance of an area that is not seen as such at present. The 
Inspector agreed with the Council that the design and layout of the development, 
along with that of the proposed houses was unacceptable. The Inspector also 
agreed that there would be no harmful effect on the living conditions of 
neighbouring occupiers. 

Turning to the second main issue, the Inspector noted that looking towards the 
viaduct from the northern part of the site, it can currently be seen in an open 
setting with wide grass banks and very large mature trees, with no built form 
whatsoever intruding into the vista. It was acknowledged that the site is well within 
the built up area but that this quite large area has been left free of development 
and as a result the setting of the large viaduct structure is retained. The Inspector 
agreed that the development in this area would be seriously detrimental to the 
setting of the historic structure.

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



In respect of the Urban Open land designation, the Inspector found that there are 
strong reasons to support this, particularly the northern half of the site. The appeal 
was dismissed.

6/2018/0118/HOUSE

DCLG No: APP/C1950/D/18/3206663
Appeal By: Mr Y Qadir

Site: 1 Ivy Walk Hatfield AL10 9FX
Proposal: Installation of rear dormer window to facilitate loft conversion

Decision: Appeal Dismissed

Decision Date: 12/10/2018
Delegated or DMC 
Decision:

Delegated

Summary: The main issue was identified as the effect of the proposed extension on the 
provision of on-street parking, and any consequential effect on highway safety and 
the character and appearance of the surrounding area. The Inspector noted that 
permitted development rights for the property had been removed. The proposed 
roof extension would lead to an additional bedroom creating a 4 bedroom property. 
The Inspector agreed with the Council that the site is located in a less accessible 
area, away from a twon centre and not within a convenient walk of a train station. 
In these circumstances the Inspector found that it was acceptable for the Council 
to require the provision of an additional parking space due to the increase in 
bedroom numbers. It was noted that here is no space within the appeal site to do 
this and so this would spill on to surrounding roads. The Inspector noted the 
appellant’s view that there was sufficient on-street space to accommodate this, 
however the Inspector agreed with the Council that there is limited ability to 
conveniently or safely park on the highway and thus any additional parking is likely 
to add to pressures in the vicinity and be harmful to the convenience and safety of 
other road users and pedestrians. It was further considered that the additional on-
street parking would also harm the established residential character of the area by 
leading to a cluttered appearance of cars in an indiscriminate fashion. The appeal 
was dismissed.

6/2018/1363/HOUSE

DCLG No: APP/C1950/D/18/3207689
Appeal By: Mr Fox

Site: 12 Longlands Road Welwyn Garden City AL7 3QB
Proposal: Erection of a two storey extension

Decision: Appeal Dismissed

Decision Date: 12/10/2018
Delegated or DMC 
Decision:

Delegated

Summary: The Inspector noted that the road was wide with grass verges and street trees and 
that the houses are grouped in semi-detached pairs and short terraces of similar 

Page 40



design and materials. The impression gained was that the original spacing 
between the houses had been retained and the open well-ordered character of the 
road reflects the distinctive pattern of development that typifies this part of the 
Garden City. The Inspector found that the proposal would reduce the space 
between the appeal dwelling and no.14 and would thereby diminish the open 
character of the area. The Inspector noted that the proposed forward projection 
would introduce a new “bookend” between the projections and no.2 and no.16 and 
would disrupt the pattern of development in this part of Longlands Road. Further 
the arrangement of windows and doors would fail to reflect the distinctive patters 
found on the original projections where the balanced asymmetry of the ground 
floor is contrasted by the symmetry of the firs-floor windows. Overall, the proposal 
was found to be harmful to the character and appearance of the area and the 
appeal was dismissed.

6/2018/0687/HOUSE

DCLG No: APP/C1950/D/18/3207889
Appeal By: Mr J Standing

Site: 5 Bell Lane Brookmans Park Hatfield AL9 7AY
Proposal: Reconfiguration of first floor with revised roof shape and fenestration

Decision: Appeal Dismissed

Decision Date: 12/10/2018
Delegated or DMC 
Decision:

Delegated

Summary: The main issues in the appeal were whether the proposal would be inappropriate 
development in Green Belt, the effect on openness of the Green Belt, the effect on 
the character and appearance of the host dwelling and if the proposal is 
inappropriate development whether there are any other considerations that clearly 
outweigh that harm and any other harm and whether very special circumstances 
exist. The Inspector considered that the dwelling constructed pursuant to planning 
permission granted in 1962 was the ‘original dwelling’ for the purposes of Green 
Belt policy and that the appellant’s references to earlier buildings on site do not 
change this view. The Inspector noted that the original dwelling had been 
increased in volume and floor space by the raising of the roof and the construction 
of dormer windows. The proposal would further increase the volume of the building 
significantly, similarly to the floorspace which would be increased by 100%. The 
Inspector considered these increases to be disproportionate to the original dwelling 
and to therefore be inappropriate development in the Green Belt. The Inspector 
found that whilst the bulk of the building above ground floor level would increase, 
this would not materially detract from the openness of the Green Belt. With regard 
to appearance, the Inspector found that the enlarged building would detract from 
the semi-rural character of the area and would radically change the existing 
dwelling to the extent that none of its existing form or aesthetic would remain. In 
conclusion, the Inspector found that substantial weight should be given to the 
identified Green Belt harm and the harm to the appearance of the area. This was 
not found to be outweighed by the limited benefits of the proposal and so ‘very 
special circumstances’ were not found to exist. The appeal was dismissed.

Page 41



6/2017/1152/FULL

DCLG No: APP/C1950/W/18/3196357
Appeal By: Welham Travel

Site: Units 9-11 Peartree Farm Welwyn Garden City AL7 3UW
Proposal: Change of use of land to a B2 use for vehicle repairs involving erection of a 

workshop following part demolition of existing workshop unit.
Decision: Appeal Dismissed

Decision Date: 24/10/2018
Delegated or DMC 
Decision:

Committee

Summary: The main issues were whether the proposal would be located in a suitable location 
having regard to the development plan, and its effect on the living conditions of the 
neighbouring residential properties. The Inspector noted the location of the site 
outside of the designated Employment Area and thus subject to policy EMP8 and 
the criteria within it. The Inspector found that the proposal would result in activities 
being carried out in closer proximity to neighbouring residential properties, in 
conflict with EMP8. The Inspector found that the building would not be overbearing 
and that the design was appropriate for its use as a workshop but that it would not 
accord with policy D2 in that it would not respect the character and context of the 
area. The Inspector noted that noise within the building could be controlled, but 
that such a condition would not be enforceable as the main entrance door would 
need to be opened and closed every time a vehicle enters or leaves the building 
with this activity causing additional noise. In addition, the need to keep windows 
and doors closed would necessitate a requirement for additional plant to ventilate 
the building which in themselves may cause noise. It was found that the proposal 
would have an adverse impact on the residential amenities of nearby properties. In 
conclusion the Inspector noted that some aspects of the development are not 
harmful and the proposal would contribute to the identified shortfall of employment 
floor space. However these would not individually or cumulatively outweigh the 
identified harm. The appeal was dismissed.

Page 42



Part I
Main author: Chris Carter
Executive Member: Councillor S.Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE)

PLANNING UPDATE – FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS

1          Introduction

1.1      This report is for the Development Management Committee to provide a summary of 
applications that might be presented to Committee over the coming months.  If the call-in 
or application is withdrawn, the item will not be presented.

1.2      The applications should not be debated as part of this agenda, however any Councillor 
wishing to raise specific points about the proposal – such as a need for planning 
obligations or issue(s) that might not readily be apparent from the proposal or any other 
matter, may do so and the case officer will consider, where they are planning 
considerations, these matters raised as part of the future Committee report.

1.3      Appendix 1 comprises all applications that have been called-in or objected to by Town or 
Parish Councils.  Appendix 2 comprises those that are a departure from the Local Plan, 
Officers consider should be determined by Development Management Committee, the 
applicant is the Borough Council or it has an interest in the land and an objection has 
been received.

2          Recommendation

2.1      That members note this report.

Name of author              Chris Carter
Title                                Development Management Service Manager

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 8



Appendix 1 - Applications called-in or objected to
ward description

6/2016/0270/VAR
Address Four Oaks 1-4 Great North Road Welwyn AL6 0PL
Proposal Variation of conditions 1 (occupants) and 2 (number of caravans) of 

Planning Permission N6/2010/0211/S73B to increase the number of 
caravans from 10 to 20 of which no more than 5 shall be static caravans or 
mobile homes.

Applicant Mr J Connors
Ward Welwyn West
Agent Mr M Green

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Julie Cragg, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

Please can we call this in due to the fact that this raises a lot of issues of 
concern for the residents.
There is uneasiness about the fact that the number of caravans fluctuates 
wildly and that they residents do not appear to adhere to the planing that 
they do have.
The restrictions regarding children is there as this was not intended to be a 
permanent site but only to give stability to the children to enable them to 
attend school.
Are they planning to use caravans as an office sutie and run business's from 
there? [sic]

Call-In/Objection 
from

Caroline Williams, Welwyn Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

15/03/2016 21:43 - Welwyn Parish Council at its Planning & Licensing 
Committee of the 15 March 2016 agreed to submit Major Objection.  We are 
unclear why the existing conditions have not been enforced.  We understand 
that the site was permitted as a temporary location linked to the schooling of 
the children which have now grown up and not as a permanent site.  We are 
concerned that the number of caravans has continued to increase overtime 
both with, and without, permission and Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
have previously stated that 10 is the maximum that can be accommodated.  
The existing conditions include that the land should be restored in 
accordance with the scheme previously submitted and approved by the 
planning authority as the residents may have already changed.

Case Officer Mrs June Pagdin

6/2016/1493/VAR
Address Thunderbridge Yard Bulls Lane Hatfield AL9 7BB
Proposal Variation of condition 1 to extend the temporary permission; condition 3 to 

permit eight caravans of which no more than five would be static caravans; 
condition 4 to vary the approved drawings; and condition 5 to vary the site 
development scheme; of planning permission S6/2011/0116/FP

Page 44



Applicant Mr J Robb
Ward Welham Green & Hatfield South
Agent Mrs A Heine

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Paul Zukowskyj, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

I would like to formally 'call in ' this applicaiton as it meets at least two of the 
key criteria for a call in, namely 1. The application is of an unusually 
sensitive nature as the current use of the site has led to significant adverse 
impact on neighbours amenity and that development beyond that permitted 
had occurred at the site. 2. The wider ramifications are the potential impact 
of permitting this development may have on setting precedent for permitting 
neighbouring sites in the forthcoming local plan examination in public. There 
is also the precedent that would be set of permitting such developments, 
even for a limited period, in flood zones.

Agent Mrs A Heine

Call-In/Objection 
from

Sue Chudleigh, North Mymms Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

NMPC OBJECT as this is clearly a new application. The name of the 
applicants is not the name to whom the extant  Permission was originally 
given.

The Government Planning Policy for traveller sites Policy E, in its 
introduction, states that making and decision taking should protect the Green 
Belt from inappropriate development - Item 4d and Item 16 state that 
inappropriate development is harmful to the Green Belt except in exceptional 
circumstances. None have been indicated. 

Item 4f - further states the local planning authority should aim to reduce the 
number of unauthorised developments and encampments.  This site has 
consistently exceeded the numbers stated in the original Permission and it is 
too small a site to be abused in this way.

Item 4k - states the local planning authority have to have due regard to the 
protection of local amenities and local environment.
There  have also been sanitary issues arising from the over-use of the site.
One or more travelling caravans have also been let to itinerant workers in 
contravention to the terms of the licence.  This has caused considerable 
problems to the neighbourhood.

Item 13 of the Planning Policy for traveller sites states the local planning 
authority should ensure that their policies:

a)  promote peaceful and integrated co-existence between the site and the 
local community 

f)  avoid placing undue pressure on local infrastructure and services 

Page 45



g)  do not locate sites in areas at high risk of flooding, including functional 
floodplains, given the particular vulnerability of caravans

Policy E, Item 24 addresses local provision and it is the case that WHBC do 
not have a firm policy on Gypsy and Traveller sites in the Borough but there 
are existing sites in Welham Green – including a long term Showmans site 
which causes no trouble – however the Foxes Lane site also is also over 
used as the numbers of caravans exceeds the permitted numbers.
Item 27 states that if a local planning authority cannot demonstrate an up to 
date 5 year supply of  deliverable sites this should be a material 
consideration and in this case the existing sites result in  over supply in 
Welham Green therefore any expansion is unwarranted.

Item 25 states that the local planning authority should very strictly limit 
traveller site development  in the Green Belt and further ….”sites in rural 
areas do not dominate the nearest settled  community.” Expansion of this 
site would cause stress on services and neighbours.

Item 16 Inappropriate development is harmful to the Green Belt and should 
not be approved, except in very special circumstances. Traveller sites 
(temporary or permanent) in the Green Belt are inappropriate development.  
Subject to the best interests of the child, personal circumstances and unmet 
need are unlikely to clearly outweigh harm to the Green Belt and any other 
harm so as to establish very special circumstances, none of which have 
been indicated in this case.

Item 24(a) The Local Planning Authority has to take into account the existing 
level of local provision and Welham Green currently has provision.  Indeed, 
even this is exceeded unlawfully – see report from Dennis Pennyfather, 
Licensing Technical Officer, dated 24 August 2016.

Item 25 This further states the Local Planning Authority should very strictly 
limit …. sites in rural areas should not dominate the nearest settled 
community.  Of late the activities at Thunderbridge Yard have caused 
extreme concern and disturbance to the neighbourhood.  Police and other 
authorities are aware of this, which seems to arise from the subletting of the 
excessive on-site accommodation to persons other than gypsies or 
travellers.

Footnote 9 States there is no presumption that a temporary grant of 
Planning Permission should be granted permanently, therefore North 
Mymms Parish Council consider, taking into account comments by Licensing 
Technical Officer that the site is not big enough, there are fire safety issues 
and this is a known flood plain with previous flooding issues, caravans on 
this Green Belt site are inappropriate development.

Case Officer Mrs June Pagdin

Page 46



6/2017/0225/FULL
Address Welwyn Rugby Football Club Hobbs Way Welwyn Garden City AL8 6HX
Proposal Retention of 4x 15 metre high floodlight columns and lamps measuring a 

further 0.5 metres
Applicant Mr M Elliott
Ward Handside
Agent Mr M Elliott

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Helen Bromley, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

I would like to call this in as the new floodlights are significantly higher and 
brighter than those which they replaced, by some 7 meters,  and they are 
also in different positions to the original lights.
This has caused significant harm to the residents and the general amenity of 
the area.
The original application did not mention the floodlights being in different 
positions.
This is impacting on the conservation and EMS area.
There is substantial visual intrusion day and night.
At night, the light spill is far worse than previously, despite the rugby club 
saying it would be less. This is not the case.
The club also seems to be contravening the permission given as to when 
they may be used.

Case Officer Mr Tom Gabriel

6/2017/0606/MAJ
Address 1-9 Town Centre Hatfield AL10 0JZ
Proposal Erection of 2 buildings to provide 1,194m2 (GEA) commercial floor space 

(A1 & A3), 70 flats (15 x 1 bedroom, 7 x 2 bedroom, three person and 48 x 2 
bedroom, four person) with associated car/bicycle parking, plant and refuse 
storage and including the improvement of public realm, following the 
demolition of existing buildings.

Applicant Mr P Brimley
Ward Hatfield Cent.
Agent Mr P Wellings-Longmore

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

Object: The Town Council is concerned at the impact of parking from new 
residential units on the retail parking spaces available.  The Council has 
repeatedly asked that design of new structures in the Town is sympathetic to 
existing Hatfield designs but again we see another architect imposing their 
design on our Town making it an uncoordinated mismatch of urban design 
from different decades with no empathy to the historic nature of the Town.  
Members are concerned at the impact of the level 7 building on the Grade 1 

Page 47



listed building of Hatfield House.  Members consider that a community 
facility needs to be included within the design.

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock

6/2018/1354/OUTLINE
Address Land South of Cromer Hyde Welwyn Garden City
Proposal Outline permission for the change of use of land to airfield with runway and 

support facilities including a clubhouse, hangar and car park with all matters 
except access and layout reserved

Applicant Mr C Fitch
Ward Hatfield Villages
Agent Mr A Bardett

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Duncan Bell, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

As one of the ward councillors for Hatfield Villages, I would like to 
conditionally call-in the above application.

This call-in is conditional, in that I would only request it's consideration by 
the Development Management Committee in the event that Planning 
Department recommend approval of the application.

My grounds for calling this application in are:

  *   The flying training circuit indicated within the Feasibility Study raises 
potential environmental (noise) concerns impacting many properties in 
Hatfield Garden Village and Salisbury Village, as well as properties within 
the proposed Local Plan sites of HAT1 and Symondshyde Village.  This 
potential environmental impact goes well beyond the addresses contacted 
as immediate neighbours.

  *   The Feasibility Study appears to envisage that construction of the airfield 
could be at least partly funded by S106 monies generated from the 
Panshanger site housing development.  In reality, S106 or CIL commitments 
generated from Local Plan developments will be finite, and there will be 
many competing claims upon their deployment.  They will need to be 
deployed where the infrastructure needs are greatest, as assessed by the 
public authorities involved.  The idea that these essentially public resources 
could be pre-empted for use on a private proposal for a new airfield seems 
questionable at best.

Given the above, I believe that this application is of sufficient interest to merit 
consideration by Development Management Committee if the Planning 
Officer recommends approval.

I have copied the three town councillors for the ward, as Hatfield Town 
Council is one of the consultees.

Page 48



I will almost certainly submit a more detailed representation in a few days 
time.

Thanks for accepting this call-in.
Kind Regards,
Duncan Bell.

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

22/06/2018 15:47 - The application is in the Green Belt and no special 
circumstances have been shown to divert from Green Belt Policy.  Members 
are concerned at the effect of noise and air pollution on the quality of life on 
residents of Salisbury Village and the Hatfield Garden Village.  HAT1 & 
HAT2 (if built) will be very close to this application site causing further 
distress to residential development.  50 cars will see a great increase in 
vehicular movements in this area.

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock

6/2018/1635/OUTLINE
Address Historic De Havilland Grass Runway

Ellenbrook fields Hatfield Buisness park
Hatfield Herts

Proposal Outline permission for the change of use of land to airfield with runway and 
support facilities including a clubhouse, hangar and car park with all matters 
except layout reserved

Applicant Mr C Fitch
Ward Hatfield Villages
Agent Mr C Fitch

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Duncan Bell, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

i would like to conditionally call in the above planning application, which 
appears to be for an airfield within Ellenbrook Fields.

This will, as for 6/2018/1354, be a conditional call-in, in that it will only need 
to come to DMC if Planning Department recommend approval.

My ground for calling this in are:

• There is a considerable potential for noise nuisance over a wide area of 
Ellenbrook, Salisbury Village, and Hatfield Garden Village.
• Just as for application 6/2018/1354, the applicant seems to envisage that 
S106 monies can be used to help finance the project.  S106 monies will be a 
scarce resource in the context of the WHBC Local Plan.  They are 
essentially public resources infrastructure needs associated with Local Plan 
development.  This should not include private flying facilities.

Page 49



• There is no airfield at Panshanger to "replace".
• My understanding is that there is an entirely separate S106 commitment 
associated with a 2017 mineral extraction application to restore Ellenbrook 
Fields as a country park.  It is unclear how this application would fit with this 
prior commitment. 

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock

6/2018/1810/MAJ
Address Former Xerox Site Bessemer Road Welwyn Garden City AL7 1HE
Proposal Erection of 16 apartments

Applicant Mr A Ward 
Ward Haldens
Agent Mr A Ward 

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Steve Roberts, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

I would like to call this in as I believe that there will be inadequate parking 
provision given the total number of flats planned for this site.

Regards

Steve

Case Officer Ms Clare Howe

6/2018/1933/FULL
Address 1 Roe Green Close Hatfield AL10 9PD
Proposal Erection of 8 flats and creation of car parking and amenity space following 

demolition of existing dwellinghouse
Applicant Mr H Jones
Ward Hatfield South West
Agent Mr P Cavill

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor James Broach, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

11/09/2018 09:24 - I would like to call this application in to DMC – unless 
officers are minded to refuse, in which case I am happy for this to be done 
under delegated powers, as I believe this is a textbook case of 
overdevelopment. My call in is for the following reasons:

• This proposed change of a family bungalow to a set of flats would be 
completely out of keeping with the neighbouring area of family homes, and 
would give a significant impression of overlooking to the immediate 

Page 50



neighbours at No. 3. To steal a quote from the officers report on the 
previously rejected application -  “the proposal would result in an excessively 
bulky and prominent building, which would appear over-dominant in the 
streetscape. It would result in a loss of spacing to the detriment of the visual 
amenities of the area”.

• I cannot see a designated storage area for bicycles on the plans, which I 
would expect to see as standard on an application such as this. 

• Whilst I welcome the addition of a turning area by the car parking spaces at 
the rear of the property, I do not believe what is proposed will work in 
practice. Will a car reversing out of spaces 9-11 actually be able to turn if 
spaces 5-8 are occupied? If not, this leaves a lengthy and potentially 
dangerous reversing manoeuvre of the users of spaces 9-11. 

• For the numbers of potential occupants of this proposal, the garden 
amenity space seems absolutely tiny. I would therefore argue that 
insufficient outdoor amenity space has been afforded to the potential 
occupants of this proposal. 

• Turning to indoor amenity space, I note that the applicant has failed to 
provide measurements on the plans for the bedrooms. Based on the 
information on the drawings, I would argue that Bedroom 2 of Unit Two, Unit 
5 and Unit 6 are all very small, and would query whether these meet the 
requirements for a bedroom? I also note that none of the bathrooms have 
any windows, and would query whether this constitutes a good level of 
design?  

This is a completely inappropriate development, and I would urge that it be 
refused as the previous application was. 

Call-In/Objection 
from

Carrie Lloyd, Hatfield Town Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

19/09/2018 21:34 - Members consider there to be insufficient car parking 
spaces for the number of dwellings and bedrooms proposed.

The height of the proposal will have a domineering impact on this particular 
aspect of Roe Green Close and College Lane.  It will be overbearing on No. 
3 and out of keeping with the other properties on Roe Green Close. 

Case Officer Mrs June Pagdin

6/2018/1983/FULL
Address 50 Reynards Road Welwyn AL6 9TP
Proposal Erection of acoustic shelter over wash facility, installation of biological 

washdown water treatment and recycling system and retention of existing 
pressure wash

Applicant

Page 51



Ward Welwyn West
Agent Mrs G Parry

Call-In/Objection 
from

Caroline Williams, Welwyn Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

29/08/2018 14:14 - Welwyn Parish Council at its Planning and Licensing 
committee meeting of 28th August 2018 unanimously agreed to submit 

MAJOR OBJECTION
Permission was never granted for the pressure wash currently in use at the 
property as the application for it (6/2018/0969) was withdrawn. Welwyn 
parish submitted a MAJOR OBJECTION to this application which still 
stands. 
We therefore submit a MAJOR OBJECTION to this new application for the 
erection of the acoustic shelter and retention of the existing pressure wash. 
This is an unsuitable development in a residential area within the Green Belt.

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Tony Kingsbury, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

6/09/2018 18:09 - I would like this to be called into committee, if the officer is 
minded to approve it, on the basis that this in inappropriate development in 
the Green Belt in a quiet residential area.  Neighbours have raised concerns 
over noise nuisance and traffic movements.

Case Officer Mrs Sarah Madyausiku

6/2018/1996/FULL
Address 77 Brookmans Avenue, Brookmans Park, Hatfield, AL9 7QG
Proposal Erection of 8 x self contained apartments with lower ground floor car park 

following demolition of existing dwelling
Applicant Mr D Hassan
Ward Brookmans Park & Little Heath
Agent Mr T Koursaris

Call-In/Objection 
from

Sue Chudleigh, North Mymms Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

27/09/2018 14:25 - North Mymms Parish Council has a MAJOR 
OBJECTION to this application. It is a massive development with the bulk, 
scale and size of the property being excessive in comparison with its 
neighbours. There are no front roof dormers in the street here and they are 
therefore out of keeping. Whilst underground parking is commendable it will 
be tricky to implement as the Avenue is fairly level at this point. It is a wide 
plot but the property height including the roof lanterns will exacerbate its 
apparent size. If the proposal was just a house it would still be over-
development. The provision of car parking verges on inadequate as noted by 
another respondent and the suggestion that the road is used for over-spill is 
inappropriate. Balconies at the rear will overlook neighbouring properties 
and affect privacy.

Case Officer Mr David Elmore

Page 52



6/2018/2121/FULL
Address 22A Carleton Rise Welwyn AL6 9RF
Proposal Erection of 1 x dwelling including access, garages and parking following 

demolition of existing garages
Applicant Mr M Gray
Ward Welwyn West
Agent Mr M Gray

Call-In/Objection 
from

Caroline Williams, Welwyn Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

10/10/2018 10:15 - Welwyn Parish Council at its Planning and Licensing 
Committee meeting of the 9th October 2018 unanimously agreed to submit:

MAJOR OBJECTION
Welwyn Parish Council feel this is an inappropriate development within the 
Danesbury estate. The design is out of keeping with the established semi 
rural design and character of the area. 
Land to the rear of number 22 is elevated and therefore the proposal, due to 
to its size, scale and design would be in an overbearing position.
It would appear that there has been no provision made for turning spaces for 
vehicles.  
10/10/2018 10:16 - Welwyn Parish Council at its Planning and Licensing 
Committee meeting of the 9th October 2018 unanimously agreed to submit:

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Sunny Thusu, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

11/10/2018 18:47 - I would like to call in this application if the officer is 
minded to approve it on the basis that it is not in keeping with the 
surrounding existing dwellings. This has also been raised with me by other 
local resisdents.

Case Officer Ms Clare Howe

6/2018/2129/FULL
Address 111 The Ryde Hatfield AL9 5DP
Proposal Retrospective change of use from single dwelling (Use Class C3) to small 

HMO for up to three to six persons (Use Class C4)
Applicant Mr I Kabala
Ward Hatfield East
Agent Mr A Huseyin

Call-In/Objection 
from

Councillor Caroline Gillett, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Page 53



Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

I wish to call in the application 6/2018/2129 Full in respect of the 
retrospective change of use from
single dwelling (Use Class C3) to small HMO for up to three to six persons 
(Use Class C4). 111 The
Ryde.

The main reason for calling in is the lack of parking in lines with policy and I 
draw the officers’ attention to the actual crossover and depth of in-curtilage 
as opposed to that drawn on the architect’s submission. Parking of 5.25 cars 
would be required as a minimum and using the cross over only space for 3. 
Also, the depth of the in-curtilage is 5.3m and not 6m as stated.

Whilst calling this in I would like to draw your attention to the following in 
connection with the submission (1325/PL/AH)

In Section 2 – The Proposal reference is made to the conversion of the 
garage into a store for bins. This was advised to be happening by March 
2018 in a previous application, and I am presuming the garage was built 
under previous planning granted in 2008 with a 3 year time frame, as this 
garage was refused in January this year.

Section 4.2 – the submission has failed to highlight bedroom 3

I note the kitchen is 6.7 sqm which is within HMO requirements for up to 5 
rooms. I question why 2 kitchens are needed to share between 3 rooms 
when only one shower/bathroom between 3 rooms. The additional kitchen is 
shown as in the lounge/diner/kitchen which is currently used as a bedsit.

Section 4.4 – advises that the front door is the main entrance for all 
occupants. It is know that the garage door is an entrance currently used by 
at least one occupant.

The garage is “being converted to a storage facility” – this has been on-
going for 8 months.

Section 6 – parking

6.1 refers to 3 bedsits at 1.25 spaces equating to 4 and 3 HMO bedrooms 
giving rise to 1 space which does not comply with 0.5 per room. Parking 
should therefore be 5.25 spaces which equates to 6 rounded up.

6.2 The depth of the property is advised as 6m when in fact 2/3 of the 
frontage is 5.3 up to the front brickwork. This means that cars would be 
parking directly under the window of bedsit 3

Section 7 – refuse.

The existing bins 3 in total and capacity within the garage.  There are at 
least 4 bins, often overflowing (photographic evidence from residents) and 
are stored on the front left of the property.

Page 54



Section 8 – landscaping

The statement in the submission is misleading. The frontage had indeed 
been altered to increase the
hard standing across the width of the site. The property has 100% hard 
standing and the trees that were at the side of the property have been 
removed.

The house has been extended to the maximum at each boundary and is not 
typical of The Ryde where other houses have at least one side access and 
all have a fair proportion of soft landscaping as well as open carparking. I am 
not aware of any that have parking across the full width or the full depth of 
the property.

It is also worth noting that the tree on the left of the property has had the 
right side branches removed to allow parking to the left of the property 
accessed over the grass verge.

Case Officer Mrs June Pagdin

6/2018/2170/FULL
Address Garages and Land adjacent to flats 37-48 Lambs Close Cuffley EN6 4HD
Proposal Erection of third flat on the airspace of 2x existing flats.

Applicant Ludgate Property Developments Ltd
Ward Northaw and Cuffley
Agent Mr Domenico Padalino

Call-In/Objection 
from

Jason Grocock, Northaw & Cuffley Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

26/09/2018 18:29 - The Parish Council objects to this application for the 
following reasons:-
There is insufficient parking as one space per flat does not conform with 
current Planning Policy.
The impact of loss of daylight on existing flats, particularly during the winter 
months is not acceptable and the plastic green 'living wall' is likely to be a 
temporary solution as will not be durable for more than a short period.

Case Officer Mr William Myers

6/2018/2242/FULL
Address Land rear of Nos 10-18 Mymms Drive Brookmans Park Hatfield AL9 7AF
Proposal Erection of a detached dwelling and two replacement bridges following the 

demolition of existing buildings
Applicant Mr & Mrs C Pocock
Ward Brookmans Park & Little Heath

Page 55



Agent DLA Town Planning Ltd

Call-In/Objection 
from

Sue Chudleigh, North Mymms Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

3/10/2018 10:58 - North Mymms Parish Council has a Major Objection to 
this application on the basis that this is back-land development. The widened 
access is still restricted and contrived. The site is too small and awkward for 
the proposal and would affect the openness of the Green Belt particularly as 
it is adjacent to an open natural space. Redevelopment of “Horsey Culture” 
and stabling does not make this appropriate proposal in this location.

Case Officer Ms Lucy Hale

6/2018/2319/FULL
Address 13 The Gardens Brookmans Park Hatfield AL9 7UL
Proposal Erection of two storey side and rear extension, installation of dormer window 

to facilitate loft conversion to habitable space. Creation of self contained 3 
bed maisonette extension.

Applicant Mr & Mrs Leigh
Ward Brookmans Park & Little Heath
Agent Mr M Doherty

Call-In/Objection 
from

Sue Chudleigh, North Mymms Parish Council

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

3/10/2018 11:12 - North Mymms Parish Council has a Major Objection to 
this application. This war of attrition to obtain flats on the site by the 
applicant does not mean that this proposal, whilst building on previous 
applications is appropriate. The building would be over-dominant in the 
street scene and should be refused, as the “nibbling” approach to planning is 
detrimental to the location. There would be a loss of amenity space to fit in 
the car parking to the rear.

Case Officer Mr David Elmore

6/2018/2455/FULL
Address 37 Church Street Welwyn AL6 9LS
Proposal Erection of 8 x apartments arranged in 2 x blocks with parking, amenity area 

and bin store following demolition of existing building on site
Applicant Mr H Tamber
Ward Welwyn West
Agent Mr C Liu

Call-In/Objection 
from

Caroline Williams, Welwyn Parish Council

Page 56



Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

10/10/2018 11:04 - Welwyn Parish Council at its Planning and Licensing 
committee of the 9th October 2018 unanimously agreed to submit the 
following:

MAJOR OBJECTION
Welwyn Parish Council believe that this proposed development would be 
over development of the site and would have a detrimental impact on the 
area. The development would be cramped and visually over dominant. The 
design is not in keeping with the spacious character of the area. Parking 
issues and vehicular movements do not appear to have been thoroughly 
addressed.

Case Officer Mr David Elmore

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 - All other applications not comprising call-ins or objections

ward description
6/2017/0606/MAJ

Address 1-9 Town Centre Hatfield AL10 0JZ
Proposal Erection of 2 buildings to provide 1,194m2 (GEA) commercial floor space (A1 

& A3), 70 flats (15 x 1 bedroom, 7 x 2 bedroom, three person and 48 x 2 
bedroom, four person) with associated car/bicycle parking, plant and refuse 
storage and including the improvement of public realm, following the 
demolition of existing buildings.

Applicant Mr P Brimley
Ward Hatfield Cent.
Agent Mr P Wellings-Longmore

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

The applicant is Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council and the proposal is major 
development which should be considered by the Committee.

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock

S6/2015/1342/PP
Address Land to the north east of King George V Playing Fields, Northaw Road East, 

Cuffley, Hertfordshire, EN6 4RD
Proposal Outline planning application for residential development of up to 121 

dwellings, associated infrastructure and a change of use from agricultural 
land to an extension of the King George V playing field.  All matters reserved 
except for new vehicular access to serve the site, the provision of surface 
water discharge points and the levels of development platforms

Applicant Lands Improvement Holdings Landmatch
Ward Northaw and Cuffley
Agent Mr M Smith

Reason for 
Committee 
Decision

The application is of a scale, sensitive nature or is controversial and officer’s 
consider that in accordance with the Council’s constitution, it should be 
determined by the Development Management Committee.   Additionally, the 
application is a departure from the provisions of the appropriate development 
plan, other policy guidance or supplementary planning guidance.

Case Officer Mr Mark Peacock

Page 59



Page 60



Part I
Main Author: Chris Carter

Executive Member: Cllr S. Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 8 NOVEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)
 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE REPORT

JULY – SEPTEMBER 2018

(All wards)

1 Introduction

1.1 This report relates to the performance of the Development Management Service 
over the three month period July to September 2018.  

1.2 Members should note that, whilst this quarter is traditionally considered to be 
quarter two of the financial year, the planning department software considers this 
to be quarter three, as with the calendar year. Therefore Members will see that 
some of the graphs reflect both of these approaches.

2 Recommendation

2.1 That Members note the content of this report. 

3 Application Numbers

3.1 The graphs below show the number of applications that have been received 
during the final quarter of 2017 and the first three quarters of 2018.  In summary, 
733 in quarter 4 of 2017. In quarter 1 of 2018 825 applications were received, in 
quarter 2 849 applications were received and in quarter 3 722 applications were 
received.

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



Major applications are those with 10 or more dwellings, sites of 1 hectare or 
more, or provision of 1,000m² new floor area or more.

Minor applications include (but are not limited to) up to 9 dwellings, gypsy and 
traveller sites and commercial proposals not falling within the major category.

Others include (but are not limited to) householder, advertisements and listed 
building applications. 

The ‘non countable’ category are those applications which are not reported to the 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG).  Such applications 
include, but are not limited to: prior approvals, discharge of conditions, etc.  

Estate Management applications are not planning applications and therefore are 
subject to different policies and regulations compared to planning.  However, 
they comprise a significant amount of the department’s work and have therefore 
been reported separately for information.  These applications include proposals 
for both built development and for landscaping (tree/hedge removal) proposals.  

3.2 From the graph above, it can be seen that Estate Management, Non-countable 
and Householders remain the greatest number submitted. As with the previous 
quarter there has been a further notable overall increase in the number of 
applications received in the last quarter and individual officer workloads have 
therefore remained higher than is desired. 

4 Performance

Applications

4.1 Government (MHCLG) monitor planning authorities on their speed of making 
decisions in relation to major and non-major applications.  The target at national 
level is to determine 60% of major applications within the statutory period of 13 
weeks or subject to the agreement of a time extension over a rolling two-year 
period.  In addition, the Council has a local performance indicator for majors of 
70%.  For non-majors, it is 70% over a two-year period.  For authorities who 
under-perform against this target, they will be classed as ‘poorly performing’ and 
applications for major development may be made by developers directly to the 
Planning Inspectorate should the target be missed.  The Council would not 
receive the fees for these but would be expected to deal with all of the associated 
administration.  

The following graph relates to the percentage of planning applications 
determined within set timescales. 

Page 62



100 100 100 100

89

74

87 83.7

88 88
93

86.9

Quarter to end of 
Dec 17

Quarter to end of 
Mar 18

Quarter to end of 
Jun 18

Quarter to end of 
Sep 18

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

110

Majors Minors Others

Speed of Decisions

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

4.2 Over the last quarter performance for majors has been maintained at 100%. 
Performance for others has dipped to 86.9%, close to the longer term average, 
with performance for minors also dropping very slightly to 83.7%. Decisions are 
still being made within both statutory and local targets.

These targets have, however, been achieved due to seeking time extensions for 
dealing with the applications beyond their statutory time period from applicants.  
Time extensions might be sought for a variety of reasons but might include 
seeking negotiations, complex and/or controversial proposals and items 
presented to Committee.  Time extensions do not go against the authority in 
terms of speed of decision making when reporting to the government.  The graph 
below shows the total number of applications determined each month in blue and 
alongside this in yellow are the number of applications where time extensions 
have been sought on those determined.  Seeking time extensions means that 
case officers workloads overall increase which makes dealing with newer 
applications on time more challenging.  Approximately 25% of all applications 
determined are subject to a time extension.  On average, each full time 
equivalent case officer will be dealing with 379 applications per annum. 

4.3 Of the decisions reported above, the following graphs show the number of 
decisions that were granted, refused, split (i.e. part granted and part refused) and 

Page 63



withdrawn across the major, minor and other categories.  All three graphs 
demonstrate that the majority of applications are granted. Withdrawals are not 
reported as part of our overall performance to government but still will have 
involved a significant amount of work by the case officers. These applications are 
frequently resubmitted often as a ‘free go’.

Page 64



Landscaping

4.4 As in the previous quarter, the performance of the landscaping team is being 
reported to enable Members to understand some of the work undertaken by 
landscape and tree officers which is not already reported to other committees 
such as the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

4.5 The landscaping team is responsible for dealing with applications relating to Tree 
Preservation Orders (TPOs), applications for works to trees in Conservation 
Areas and Estate Management applications where works are proposed to trees 
or hedges.  They are also involved in masterplanning for strategic, and other 
large, sites to advise on landscaping and planting plans.

4.6 In the region of 200 applications per annum are received which are Estate 
Management and 300 TPO and works to trees in Conservation Area applications.  
Applications for works to trees in Conservation Areas require the Council to 
determine whether or not the tree should be protected by a TPO.  Decisions must 
be made within 6-weeks and the Order issued within this timescale.  If a decision 
is not made on the first day of the 7th week, the applicant may undertake the 
works that they were seeking consent for.  

4.7 The following graphs show the number of TPO and conservation area 
applications determined each month and whether they were determined within 
the statutory timescales. This shows little consistency with the number of 
applications received each month making resourcing more difficult and the 
number of decisions made in time are sensitive to changes in officer capacity. It 
is noted that 

Page 65



4.8 The graph below shows the number of decisions made on TPO’s and Trees in 
Conservation Areas since the beginning of the year. The Landscape Officer tries 
to negotiate acceptable schemes, hence a high approval or no objection rate.

Page 66



 

4.9 The graph above shows the number of applications for works to trees within the 
Estate Management area..

4.10 In addition to dealing with applications, Members will be aware from reports 
presented to Committee that the landscaping officer will comment on proposals 
that might have an impact on either existing landscaping or will provide an 
opinion on proposed landscaping.  The following graphs show the average 
number of consultations per month is approximately 30. Each of these 
consultations has the potential to consume significant landscape officer time as 
they interrogate tree reports and seek to advise on landscaping improvements to 
proposals.

Page 67



Appeals

4.11 The chart below shows the number of applications and enforcement notices that 
have been allowed, allowed with conditions, dismissed, split decisions (part 
allowed and part refused) and withdrawn at appeal.  This quarter has seen an 
decrease in the number of decisions compared to the previous, from 16 to 8. As 
has been noted previously, over the longer term, there continues to be a trend 
towards appeals being allowed or allowed with conditions by the Planning 
Inspectorate. In the most recent quarter there was a 50/50 split between those 
appeals which were allowed and those which were dismissed.  This does 
however mean that the Council has therefore failed to meet its local target for this 
quarter. It should be noted that, with the relatively small number of decisions 
received, the figures are particularly sensitive to minor changes.

4.12 As well as the Government monitoring authorities in relation to performance for 
determining applications, it also monitors quality in relation to the number of 
major and non-major applications overturned (i.e. allowed) at appeal.  The 
threshold is for fewer than 10% of major applications overturned at appeal over a 
rolling two-year period.  For authorities who exceed this target, they will be 
classed as ‘poorly performing’ and applications for major developments may be 
made by developers directly to the Planning Inspectorate.  The last major 
application overturned at appeal was over two years ago and therefore the 
Council is meeting the Government’s target.   It is worth highlighting that very few 
major applications have historically been refused by the Council and thus very 
few can be appealed.  

4.13 As of 1 April this year the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) has implemented a threshold for quality of decisions for 
non-major applications at 10%.  For clarification, this is 10% of all non-major (i.e. 
minor and others) decisions refused by the Council and subsequently overturned 
at appeal over a rolling two-year period.  The statistics collated by MHCLG have 
been published and relate to the two year period between April 2015-March 
2017. These figures show that a total of 62 appeals have been determined of 
which 18 were allowed.  Over the same time period 1,677 applications have been 
determined.  The percentage is therefore 1.1%.  The Council is therefore 

Page 68



significantly within government’s target and not at risk of being classed as poorly 
performing. 

4.14 Planning appeals can be costly to administer in terms of officer time and expert 
advice. A straightforward householder appeal may take approximately 5 hours of 
officer time to register and respond to, assuming that it follows a written 
representations procedure. However, larger applications that may require a 
hearing of public inquiry can run into many thousands of pounds.

4.15 As well as the cost of administration, the Council must have regard to the 
potential to have costs awarded against it, should it be found that the decision, or 
the Council’s behaviour was unreasonable. An example of this is the recent costs 
award against the Council for the application at 23 Park Street, Hatfield. This 
application was refused by the Development Management Committee (DMC). 
The Council has recently settled the costs award that was made to the applicant 
for in excess of £20k.

5 Enforcement

Number of cases received

5.1 Enforcement continues to be very busy. However there has been a slight decline 
in the number of new cases being registered in the last quarter. 

5.2 As with previous quarters, a lot of cases reported are those considered as having 
a less serious impact upon amenity, shown in red.  

Page 69



Notices Issued

5.3 The chart below shows the number of notices issued.  The issuing of an 
enforcement notice is the last resort for the Council.  Government guidance 
requires local planning authorities to try to negotiate with a contravener to find 
alternative means by which an unacceptable development may be made 
acceptable.  A significant amount of time is spent by the enforcement officers in 
negotiation.

5.4 There are currently 585 outstanding enforcement cases (both planning and 
Estate Management), some of which are awaiting prosecution, notices to be 
served or, in the case of estate management, for arbitration.  Others are being 
investigated with the aim to find an acceptable resolution for all parties.  The next 
report providing an update on enforcement action taken (i.e. notices issued) will 
be presented to the December Development Management Committee (DMC 
meeting as a Part II (confidential) item.

6 Updates 

6.1 Since the last report, there have been further changes within the Planning team. 
Jonathan Murray (Principal Enforcement Officer) has joined the authority. A 
recent advertisement for a Principal Development Management Officer has been 
successful and we hope that the new member of staff will start before the end of 
the year. 

Page 70



7 Conclusion

7.1 All areas continue to be busy, however performance been maintained above 
required local and national levels.  Recruitment remains very challenging but 
efforts continue to try and recruit high quality permanent staff.

Author: Chris Carter (Development Management Service Manager)
Date:  26 October 2018

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 22 PARKWAY WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL8 6HG - 6/2018/1881/FULL - CHANGE OF USE FROM OFFICES (B1) TO HOTEL (C1) AND ERECTION OF SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION
	7 APPEAL DECISIONS
	8 PLANNING UPDATE - FUTURE PLANNING APPLICATIONS
	Appendix 2 Future Applications Cttee Report No Call-In

	9 DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE REPORT - JULY - SEPTEMBER 2018

